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STRATEGIC REPORT

About

Mizzen Mezzco Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) is a financial services group.
Premium Credit Limited (PCL or ‘Premium Credit’) is the Group’s principal trading subsidiary.

2020 Highlights

£3.6 billion £110.6 million
Amount of loans originated Total income

+2.9% (2019: £3.5 billion) +2.3% (2019: £108.1 million)

0.18% £48.9 million
Loan loss ratio Operating profit

+O.Dlp.p. (2019: 0.17%) +51.4% (2019: £32.3 million)

£65.1 million 2.1 million
EBITOA Number of loans granted

-2.0 million (2019: £61.1 million) (2019: 2.1 million)

54.7% 11.1%
Expense to income ratio Total income margin

-16.Sp.p. (2019; 71.2%) This ratio includes costs + 0,1 pp. (2019: 11%)
deemed non-recurring as well as amounts written

off on loans to customers.

Alternative performance measures (‘APM’r In the highlights above, Total income, Operating profit and Expense to income

ratio are IFRS measures. Management also use a number of APM to assess performance — in the highlights shown above,

these are Loan loss ratio (representing Net credit losses for the year/Amount of loans originated over the year(, Total income

margin (representing Total income I Average funded receivables( and EBITDA. Definitions and reconciliations to statutory

financial information can be found in the financial statements and in the notes to the financial statements. See EOITDA

reconciliation table to our Operating profit on page 30,

The measures Amount of loans originated and Number of loans granted are neither IFRS measures nor APM.
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Group overview

Premium Credit Limited, the Group’s principal trading subsidiary, provide instalment financing, supporting the

purchase of insurance policies and other services to corporates and individuals. Each year, we use our leading,

integrated technology to originate over two million loans, lending over £3.5 billion through a network ofc. 3,000

partners.

Our end-customers

We enable the purchase of critical products for our end-customers, allowing them to make the annual cost of

mandatory or important payments more affordable, by spreading them over regular instalments. We serve over

2 rndlion individuals, SMEs and corporate clients, with a focus on strong customer outcomes. This is reflected in

our customer satisfaction scores, as well as our “Excellent” rating on Trustpilot.

Our distribution partners

Our diversified network of over3,000 partners outsource the provision of instalnient Lnance for theircustomers

to Premium Credit. Our intermediary partners include insurance brokers, insurance providers, membership

orga&sations, schools and leisure facility As a 82B2C provider, we have high brand awareness withV

our strong partner relationships. Those relationships are long-term and multi-faceted across their sales,

operations and IT functions- Intermediary partners choose to work with us because of our track record of reliable

service, our significant investment in IT integration which delivers seamless journeys for them and their

customers, and our strong focus on regulatory compliance.
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How we do it — example of a journey for insurance premium finance

company Number: 08179245

• Customers purchase an insurance policy (or other payment-in-advance service such as school fees) from
ore of our intermediary partners, and is required to pay for the insurance poLcy (or the service purchased)

prior to receiving the service.

• The intermediary simultaneously offers to arrange finance for the payment, enabling the customer to

spread the cost of the service over the period the service is received.

• We fund the full insurance premum the ntermediary partner, and collect the loan from the borrower in

monthly instalments through direct debit collection,

• Upon a default, we cancel the insurance policy (or other service) and depending on business line and
product, recover its renaming value front the service provider. For most lending to consunlers we have
additional recourse to the intermediary partner.

Customer (policyholder)

Insurance policy Instalments 4
Insurance premium

Insurance distribution
Premium Creditpartner

4 Insurance Premium

Insurer
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Our markets and offering

Company Number: 08179245

Premium Credit serves two key end markets: (i) the financing of insurance premiums (‘Insurance Premium

Finance”) and (ii) the financing of other services, including professional and golf memberships, corporate ta<

liabilities, school fees and season tickets (“Specialist Lending”).

Insurance Premium Finance

We work with a variety of intermediary partners to provide financing for non-life insurance premiums.

The total broker market in the UK for non-life insurance premiums, gross written premiums (“GWP”) is

c. £24 billion. This grows broadly in line each year with GDP. The third-party premium finance market (i.e. not

funded by the insurer or partner) is estimated at c. £7 billion. Premium finance has historically grown at a faster

rate than GWP, driven by increasing penetration of the product. Substitute forms of finance, such as credit cards

and overdrafts, often attract higher interest rates than premium finance.

Premium Credit is one of the market leaders in insurance premium finance. Over half of our intermediary

partners have worked with us for more than ten years. We continue to increase penetration within our existing

broker partner base. In parallel, we are driving growth through other partners such as insurers and affinity

partners, many of who seek to outsource the provision of premium finance given increased regulatory

requirements.

Specialist Lending

Our specialist lending products exhibit similar attributes to insurance premium finance: making important

services such as professional memberships and school fees affordable. Across just schools, corporate tax

liabilities and golf memberships, we estimate there is a total market of over £230 billion payments per year.

Our competitors in insurance premium finance are less active in this channel. Competition for these products

tend therefore to be boutique firms.
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Our business model

Company Number: 08179245

The prodLicts we finance are either mandatory, business critical or high on the list of priorities for our customers.

Aside from increasing market share of our intermediary partners and increasing finance penetration with these

partners, further opportunities exist in the non-broker and affinity partner market segments.

2. Diversified customer and distribution partner base

We have long-term and symbiotic intermediary partner relationships, with low concentration risks only 36% of

the outstanding balance of our loans has been originated though our top 10 partners. We are the only insurance

premium hnance provider accredited by the Britsb Insurance Brokng Association and -ave held pre’erred

supoler status with Broker Ireland for over 5 years.

Our customer base is extremely diversified, with over 2.1 niIion customers annually, from consumers right

through to large corporate clients.

1. leader in a growth market with further adjacent opportunities
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3. Our digital investment

We have made material investments over the last 5 years to transform our digital offering. Our technology

platforms enable point of sale financing with real-time decision making, either fully integrated within our

partners’ systems or seamlessly supported with customer and partner portals. For many partners, our platform

becomes an integral part of their payments system. Last year, we facilitated c.25 million direct debits.

Our technology is underpinned by a robust cyber ‘nfrastrc.cture, which has benefitted from significant

investment in recent years. We are ISO 27031 and ISO 22301 certified.

4, Our regulatory and compliance culture

Prenilum Credit isauthorised and regulated by the Financial ConductAuthorityfor Consumer Credit Lending and

Broking in the UK, and by the Cent’al Bank of Ireland as a Moneylender in Ireland.

Our focus at Premium Credit is on strong customer outcomes. We assess customer affordability on all loans, and

perform an enhanced assessment on larger loans and higher risk customers. We ensure fair treatment of

customers, even when they are vulnerable, through clear customer messaging, and though our focus is on

digital, we ensure we can still serve customers as required through more traditional channels when required.

5. Superior risk management and multiple layers of credit protection

Our credit loss rate in 2020 averaged O.1S% of our net advances (2019: 0.17%)’. Our loss rates are significantly

lower and less volatile than other forms of consumer finance, given the combination of our credit expertise as

well as a number of layers of credit protection embedded in the majority of our products.

On a significant proportion of our products, the underlying policy is cancelled or the service revoked if

repayments are not honoured, In the event the customer does not pay, Premium Credit either has recourse to

the intermediary partner, or we can seek payment from the underlying insurer / service provider.

These layers of protection drive consistent performance of the business through-cycle with strong cash

conversion. EBITDA has grown with minimal volatility from £42.3 million in 2012 to £65.1 million today.

6. Our future

Over the coming years, we expect to continue to benefit from our material technology investments to date. We

will continue to drive growth with existing intermediary partners, though continued roll out of our payment

technology and trontline training to increase penetration of our financing products. We will also grow through

new intermediary partners, expanding our presence across insurers and other types of partners. We will

continue to expand our specialist lending business, and in particular we will explore cross-sale opportunities.

Topline growth will be complemented by the achievement of additional operational efficiency, as processes

continue to digitise, and we increase the operating leverage in the business.

credit loss ‘ate is defined as Net credit losses for the year divided by the amount of loans originated over the year
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

When joined premium Credit in 2019,1 was impressed by both the strength of the Group’s commercial offering

and the capabiity and dedication o’ my new coleagues.

My belief in the business and adm;ration for its people has only been strengthened as we’ve stood together to

overcome a uniquely challenging year.

The Group’s positive traectory has continued thoughout 2020 despite the efects of the COV 0-19 pandemic.
The urde’.y’ng resiltence of our business model has been proven •n the face of disruptions to both our

customers’ needs and our own ways of working. Against nat backdroo, we’ve delivered strong performance

including an increase in the loans we originated to £3.6 billion (2019: £3.5 billion), in ou Total Income to £11C.6

million (2019: £108.1 million), and in our Profit Before Tax to £29.0 mhllion (2019: £17.3 million),

Our people and the culture we strive for were vital in delivering these results, and I’m delighted with how we’ve

truly lived our purpose and values in supporting our customers and partners during a demanding time. I would

like to personally thank every member of the Premium Credit team and our wider stakeholders for their hard

work and adaptability throughout the year.

Performance

We began 2020 with ambitious plans, and were delivering against both our strategic priorities and advances

growth targets through the early months, growing in line with our distribution partner base, both new and

existing

When the COVID-19 pandemic hit in March, our priorities immediately needed to shift to ensure all our

colleagues were safe, and that we could continue to serve our customers and partners away from the office.

Our investment in technology infrastructure and security in recent years as well as a coordinated approach to

enabling our people to work from home, meant the speed and efficiency of our response to the situation stood

us in good stead.

With everyone safely work.ng from nome as the UK and Ireland locked down, our services and operatons had

to simi;arly adapt as the pandemic impacted ow cston,ers. Businesses and whoie sectors shut down, and large

numbers of customers reached out to us for help. Going above and beyond for ourcustomers and partners has

undoubtecly strengthened these relationships and, though we saw some increase in arrears initialiy as already

exposed businesses struggled earycn in COVID, wewere able to supportthe majority of ouraffected customers

via payment holidays and other forms of support.

Those arrears quickly stabilised while our advances and revenues remained robust as. with our help, customers

and bustnesses were able tc continue trading through turbulent times, ard meet ther repayment cbigations.

As a result, amounts written off on loans to customers onlygrew marginallyto £6.4 m.ll’on (2019: £5.9 million).

PAGE 9



Mitten Mezaco Limited Company Number: 08179245
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020

Refocusing our purpose, values and strategy

Early in the year, we embarked on a programme to refresh and better communicate our purpose, recognising

that the pandemic itself had helped bring our Core purpose to the forefront. Our colleagues across the business

ccnrluded through the programme that we are here to ‘proudly support our customers and partners in creating

opportunities through convenienr payments’. Alongside this, colleagues also moved forward our corporate

values, to better align with what we are here to do. The recently launched nes•v purpose and values have brought

colleagues closer together and to our customers and partners.

Our strategy has also evolved this year, building on the ongoing investment in our technology platform and the

significant work we undertook to map and understand customer and par:ners journeys in 2019. Our strategic

pillars, osjectives and critical KPls have beer updated, and we’ve Comm ttcd to new and ambitious targets for

2023.

We plan to outgrow and out earn in our chosen markets. We will achieve that by focusing on three key strategic

pillars: the first of which is to provide frictionless digital journeys for our customers and partners. Alongside that

we will drive actionable insight from our many sources of data and also match our proposition with a flexible

and efficient operating model, all enabled by our ongoing digital investment.

These three pillars are core to our 2023 growth ambitions. Providing a digital, seamless and easy experience

consistently for both customers and partners is key to growth, as is properly organising and leveraging the

universe of data we have available to us to drive action, generate income and improve margins. Finally, our

operating model must be flexible in order to meet the changing needs of our customers, partners and the

marketplace, while leveraging technology to deliver cost efficiencies. Further detail is provided on page 14.

Working with our stakeholders

In responding to the year’s unprecedented circumstances, our approach in these times of remote working has

been to communicate frequently and consistently with our many stakeholders, The Board and the senior

leadership team have strived to communicate in as timely and supportive a manner as possible given the rapidly

changing environment Circumstances demanded an enhanced approach to ensuring customers, partners,

regulators, investors and shareholders had the in’orrnation they required. We also had to learn entirely new

ways to communicate with our colleagues during remote svorkirg.

In o’der to better understand ho” we are perceived by the stakeholders we impactthe most, we have improved

how we monitor and measure a variety of key areas of non1inarclal performance in our new cultural dashboard,

which you can read more about on page 35. Learning more about the views of our customers, colleagues and

society is vital for achieving our objectives in a long-term, sustainable way.

It has been pleasingtosee positive reactions to our response to the crisis reflected in thedashboard, particularly

in our customer satisfaction rates and employee engagement scores. Our Trustpilot rating is above ta’get, and

our Net Promotor Score (‘NPS’) and our overall engagement score have all significantly improved.
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Outlook

.ookirg ahead the key chaHenge for the comno year will be navigating the cortirtied impacts of the COVID-19

pandemic and the recessicn that wil likely occ’ when government sjpoort inevi:ab!y ends for consumers and

businesses. Our products have proven to be invauabIe for both customers and partners during these difficult

Pnies. and we are ready for a asting mpact of the pandemic on the economy. ‘o that end, we have worked

hard to maintain our discipline in underwriting throughout the many lockdowns experienced in the UK and

Ireland.

G;ven that the Group has adapted to workng from home very weli, we wil continue to do so in the short term

and on;y revert back to more regular, face-to-face working when it is absolutely safe to do so. Wth a large

maiority of colleagues expressing a desireto maintain some home working in our engagemert surveys, we nave

already begun testirg blended working patterns to prepare for life beyond the pandemic.

The other big challenge of 2021 will be managing the impact of the UK’S eicit from the European Union. Despite

a trade deal being agreed, we will remain vigilant and alert to which industries and sectors are going to be most

adversely impacted. However, the capability to assess this at the underwriting stage is entirely in line with what

was required during the pandemic and so I’m confident in the abilities we have already demonstrated in 2020.

Despite facing these difficult market conditions and tough times in general, these are still exciting times for the

Group. We have proven that we’re a business that generates substantial profits quarter after quarter even in

challenging times, and there remain many opportunities for future growth.

Our most important opportunities come from growing with our existing partners. We need to bring all partners

and channels up to the same benchmark as our best high volume, seamless digital journeys, and in this area, we

have much to do, but also great opportunities. In our more complex lending, we need to ensure brokers’

conversations about financing options are enabled and fulfilled by technology and support where necessary. We

will also locus on less mature channels in cur insurance and specialist lending businesses in the coming years.

The opportunities to grow in 2021 and beyond are substantial and we look forward to outgrowing and out

earning in our chosen markets next year, and beyond.

Tara Waite

Chief Executive Officer
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Our response to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted our operations, our Customers and partners, and our colleagues

throughout 2020, like many businesses. However, effective planning, strong decision making, and clear

communication enabled us to respond and deliver for all our stakeholders.

Preparing for a pandemic

Before the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 a pandemic in March 202C, we spent

the preceding weeks considering the pntentiai impacts such a crisis could have on the Group.

With staff wellbe;ng at the front of our minds, we carried out detaled risk assessments of mov:ng all our

colleagues to a working from home model. We analysed this requirement from bcth an IT infrastructure and HR

perspective, considerng factors such as the requirement for and ava1abi9ty of equEpment, how to maintain and

optimise operations in a remote setting, how to communicate the changes to stakeholders, and how to protect

staff engagement and morale. We also considered the impact the situation could have on our existing risks -

particularlyaround informatior security, data protecton, cyberand financial crtme and fraud - in ordrtoensure

key risk indicators did not move beyond our desired risk appetite.

Setting new short-term priorities

As the gravity of the situation became apparent with imminent Iockdowns in the UK and Ireland, we were

required to adapt and focus on a number of key priorities.

Facilitating working from home for all employees

Before governments moved to lockdown, we had already made the decision to move all our employees to

working from home and ensure the safe continuation of our operations. Within a number of days of this decision,

additional laptops and other equipment were rolled out to employees not previously remote-enabled in the UK

and Ireland. Arrangements were also put in place for our critical infrastructure support in other countries,

including outsourced operations India and South Africa. Durservices continued with no disruption or limitations.

Dealing with changing customer req uiremenrs

The impact on our customers presented challenges for both our operations and people. During the first

Iockdown, we experLenced three times the typical volume of calls and had to manage that demand effectively.

In parallel, we had to implement a range of new ways we could support affected customers, including reduced

instalments, payment holidays and payment freezes. See more on how we handled forbearance below.

Refinoncing to enable short-term concessions for customers

We have always supported customers in need with forbearance, however the pandemic significantly increased

the number oF customers requiring that assistance simultaneously. In addition, the duration of the need for

supoort from customers was unknown. We therefore made the decision to strengthen our own funding position

to allow for that additional support. By June 2020, th’ough PCL Asset Trustee Limited which we have an

intercompany loan with, we had appropriately amended our main funding facilities with the consent of our

funding ban-cs and the rating agencies. These amendments were intended to grant structural flexibility in the

changing context of COVID-19.
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Going above and beyond throughout the year

Providing forbearance

From the onset of the crisis and the first national [ockdown in particular, consumers and SMEs in the UK and
Ireland faced a period of unprecedented financial anxiety.

The FCAs initial forbearance guidance for premium finance providers in April did not require the length of

payment holidays to be as extensive as other types of lending, notably in light of the short-term nature of our

lending. Nevertheless, Premium Credit made the decision to do what we could to help our customers

experiencing financial hardship and strugglng to repay their loans. We reviewed each forbearance case on an

indivcua basis, looking wherever o.sssioie to easethe financial b.,rden and ensure that customers continued to

have insurance or service that met their needs.

From the onset of the COVID-19 criss to 31 December 2020, we granted forbearance on £127 million of loans

(compared to £3.6 billion, of loans originated), of which ony £2 million remained in forbearance at year-end,

which is in line with our business-as-usual expectations. Since the onset of the crisis, given tne short tenure of

the loans we write most of our book has been re-underwritten.

Communicating with stokeholders

During the fast-moving environment of March to July and beyond, frequent and substantial dalogue with

coleagues, partners, customersand the regulatorwas central togettingou’ response right. We also held regular

fundraising events for both our corporate charity partner and for COVID-19 affected charities. More information

on stakeholder engagement can also be found in our Responsible Business section.

Colleagues

We significantly increaseo communication to keep our colleagues engaged with the Group and with each other

whilst at home. We utilised Microsoft Teams to maintan virtual face-to-face contact, and introduced a weekly

all-staff video meeting led by our CEO and Executive team., whch included extensive Q&As. We also introduced

Connect Express, an :nternal newsletter sent twice a week, to <eep coheagues .n touch with news and

information from across the business. A ‘ull programme of wellbeing initiatives was also introduced to prov;de

suoport, We gauged opinion on our response via a number of surveys; 97% of respondents felt they receivec

regular and helpful communications and satisfactory support.

Board

We increased the frequency of Board meetings, initially to weekly during the first UK and Irish lockdowns, in

order to manage the situation effectively. Frequency returned to the regular schedule once the initial lockdown

was deemed to be effectively managed.

Partners and customers

We held initial and then regular conference calls with our key partners to ensure our new customer support
options were clear to them and to allow them to ask us any questions, and receive any support required.
Customer demand remained strong, other than temporary decreases in certain sectors impacted by lockdowns,

and our overall loan origination volume increased by 1.9% year-on-year.

Regulators

We have worked closely with our regulators in the UK and Ireland throughout the pandemic, having appropriate
contact with them whenever required to ensure our ongoing response was in line with their expectations.
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Our strategy
We have updated our strategic direction in line with our dearly articulated purpose, Our aim is to cement our

position as a leadingtech-enabled provider of convenient payment options and to out-grow and out-earn in our

chosen markets.

To achieve that, we have embedded new objectives, l<Pls and pillars, as well as refreshing our purpose and

introducing new values.

In order to ensure our strategic planning and objectives remain fit for purpose, we constantly evaluate new

developments in the market, gaining insight into trends, drivers and emerging markets.

Our new strategic pillars are underpinned by our market-leading technology, using secure cloud-based systems,

which supports business needs and opportunities, and for which we continuously review alternative options

that may deliver additional value for the business.

We are tracking performance and actions against our strategy, and we have outlined planned next steps and the

timeframe we expect those goals to be delivered in.
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Strategy in action

Seamle5s

Simple digital journeys

Deliver growth and efficiencies through digitally enabled customer and partner journeys

We constantly seek to identify where digtal solutions can improve the customer and partner experience, and

simplify our business. That means looking at end-ta-end processes, ‘rom ow our partners offerour product, to

how our customers buy tttose products and -low we service and suoport the entire journey. We then focus on

delivering customer journeys that are simple and e’ortless for all users, whether that’s end-customer, partner

or coleague. Our journeys must meet the needs of the customer today and be easily adaptabie as their needs

change in the future. We are constantly listening to our partners to make sure our solutions align with their

strategic direction. Through continuous feedback, we evolve together to ensure we meet the needs of

customers.

“We are delivering growth and efficiencies through digitally enabled journeys, simplification and further

automation.” Jon Howells, Chi ef Commercial Officer

• 99% inbound loan requests received online

• A new loan granted every 15 seconds, 24 hours a day, 365 days a year

Sharp

Actionable insights

Generate income and Improve margins through the effective management of customeç partner and

performance doto

We ‘ave accumulated a considerable amount of data, which we can examine through various lenses for many

oiferent uses. This strategic objective is about ensuring that we acquire, store, catalogue, manage, access.

control, and use that data to the best of our abilities. To that end, we are building the right capability internally,

both people and technology, to enable us to understand and manage our data in support of our strategy We

are confident :nat this inves:ment wili lead to both future income growth, and operational efficier.ces as we

begin to utilse ourdata in even more powerful ways.

“We are significantly stepping up the use of customer, partner and performance data to drive action, generate

ncome and further tmprove margins.” Andrew Chapman, Chief Financial Officer

• 2.1 million customers

• 3,ODD partners
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Nimble

Flexible Operating Model

Improve customer and partner experience by creating the best team, processes and capabilities

We are passon2te aboutour community of customers and partners and their experience with Premium Credft.

We are wo’king to ensure we have the right processes in place to service them, aiming to remove any

inefficiencies from our current processes to further improve the experience. Wewi:l also ensure we continue to

have the right skills, structure and capabilities to deliver new processes. This w;ll not only incJude further

investment in teChnology, but also train’ng and upskill;ng our colieagues so they can support our evolving

business.

We are designing and developing an operational framework that best represents how we run the business to

deliver ow- strategy.” Josie Pileic, Chief Operorions and People Officer

25 mi!lion direct debits pa.

Stall engagement score: 78% (2019: 55%)
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Key Performance Indicators

Company Number: 08179245

Our progress is tracked through a number of financial and non-financial Key Perfwmance Indicators (KPls).

£110.6

19 £205.1

IS £104.8

18 £60.6

19 027%

Total income

Definition: Net interest income (€97.7 million) plus fee income (E16.9 million)
minus commission expense (€4.0 million).
Perfwmar’ce: Our Total income has continued to grow, as a result of
increased origination and slightly improved interest margins.

Total income margin

De!initon: Total income €110.6 million) / average funded receivables S at

(€997 million). p07,_p

Performance: Our Total income margin growth reflects total income
increasing faster than our funded receivables balances. This is notably due to
slightly improved interest margins.

Risk adjusted Income

Definition: Total income (€110.6 million) minus Net credit losses
(€6.4 million).
Performance: The continued improvement in our Risk-adjusted income
reflects an increase In Total Income combined with a strong credit
performance. In 2020 despite the challenging economic environment,
disciplined underwriting ensured Net credit losses of £6.4 million remained in
line with the previous year (2019: £5.9 million).
EBITDA

Definition: Profit for the year before taxation, interest payable and similar
charges (other than interest expense of our Securitisation Programme),
depreciation and amortisation (aside from the amortisation of arty lees of our
Securitisation Programme), certain transaction costs, certain one-time
investments in the business, and other non-operating costs including
restructuring costs. See reconciliation table to our Operating profit on
page 30.
Performance: With our Total income increasing in 2020, the year-on-year
movement in EBITDA was driven primarly by a prudent increase in credit loss
provisions in response to the potential ecorom:c impacts of COVID-19, rather
than by effective credit losses.

Operating profit

Definition: Total income minus Adminstrative expenses and changes in
impai’ment losses reserves on loans to customers.
Performance: In addition to the increase in our Total income, our
Adn-fnistrative expenses decreased by £16.4 million, of whch the main
drivers are non-cash foreign currency gains (€4.3 million), staff costs
(€1.6 million), and IT-related expenditure (€4.2 million).

Loan loss ratio
Defhition: Net credit losses for the yea (€5.4 million) / Amount of loans
originated over the year (€3.6 biil:on). ‘ , -

Performance: Despite the challenging economic environment, the credit
quality of the loan book remains strong. This is driven by the several layers of
credit protection embedded in the majority of our products: mandatory or
critical nature of the insurance or service we finance, where the insurance
policy or service can be cancelled or revoked if repayments are not honoured;
recourse to the intermediary partner, the underlying insurer or the service
partner in the event the customer does not pay; short duration of our loans
allowing for a rapid impact of changes in our credit underwriting rules.
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Amount of loans originated
Definition: Total value of loans granted over the year, net of cancellations

and mid-term adjustments.
Performance: Our origination grew by 19% despite certain sectors being
impacted, driven by the mandatory nature of insurance premium finance,
and an increasing penetration of our products with our partners.

Average funded receivables

Definttion: The average principal balance of loans that had been
originated and disbursed to our partners (the ‘outstanding funded
principal balance’) over the year.
Performance: Our receivables’ book continued to grow in line with the

growth in loan origination.

Securibsation Programme size and utilisation

_________________________________

Definition: The total amount available of funding available at year-end

through our Secuntisation Programme, and amount utilised at that date.
Performance: Vie have ncreased the size of our Securitisation
Programme to facilitate both growth in the loan book and repayment of

maturing instruments. We notably accessed the Pubic ABS market in
2020, issuing our largest transaction to date.

I Employee engagement
Definition: Desuits of our engagement surveys. Percentage of
respondents that answered ‘agree’ and ‘strongly agree’ to engagement

questions.
Performance: We saw a significant increase in engagement in 2020, with

cefleagues emphassing support from their managers and team, good

_____________________

communication from the executive team, and clarity about their roles

and responsibilities.

19 fl,510,

E3j376,O

1$ £5620

20 £1,45t0

19 £1,392.0

18 .41S&O

19 55%

18

Customer complaints

Definition: Reportable customer compia:nts per 100,000 loans written.
This is suppemented by the total number of reportable complaints made

to the Financial Ombudsman (FOS).

Performance: The uplift in 2019 followed a change in our internal
custom ri,mjinis a2 342

complaint process in line with rCA requ;rements to also manage
33 5 41

producer referrals. Regular interactions with FOS to understand their

approach has resulted in a reduction of both the numbers of complaints

referred to FOS and of those upheld by FOS in favour of customers (two
upheld in 2020, four in 2019).

Trustpilot score
Definition: An overall measurement of customer satisfaction based on
reviews received on Trustpilot.com, based on time span, frequency and Reviews 18,264 • Excellent
flayesian average of the reviews.
Performance: Our customer satisfaction level reflects the critical nature 4.6

of our products for our customers, the efficient customer onboarding
journey, and our strong compliance culture. We started using Trustptlot

in 2020, and as a result previous years’ comparatives are not available.
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Risk management

Managing risk is a core aspect of our management and governance. By effectively identifying, measuring,

monitoring, managing and reporting on all risks, we aim to maintain a balance between risk and potential reward

that allows us to achieve our strategic objectives without exposing the Group to unacceptably high residual risks

outside our overall risk appetite.

Risk appetite

Our appetite is to take appropriate but controlled risks to achieve ow strategic and growth objectives, whilst

mantaning our position as asafe and trusted financier of choice. Risk identificatiom data an&ysis, measure”rent

and decision making are all used to aliow us to manage our risks wit-in acceotabe limits.

Moderate risk positions may be accepted in some areas for a defined period in pursuit of at:’actve commercial

opportunities, however, the Group has no appetite for higher risk positions and sboud they arse due to other

circumstances, they must be managed back to with;n accepted limits in tightly defined timescales.

Our approach to risk management

Responsibilities surrounding risk management and internal contro systems are designed to meet the needs of

the size and complexity of the business. We believe a sound risk management framework, combined with a

strong risk culture, effectively supports appropriate risk awareness, behaviours and judgements about risktaking

across the Group. The overal objective of our risk management approach is to:

• establish clear roles, responsibilites, and reporting lines;

• encourage a risk aware culture;

• incorporate risk management into strategic panning, projects and operations;

• define the framework for idert”ying, measuring, monitoring and reporting sgni”cant risks across

Pemium Credit;

• monitor the effectiveness of contros and adherence to policies and procedures;

• seeking inoeperdent assurance on the effectiveness of controls; and

• determine the boundaries for business risk taking.
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Risk management framework

The Group’s enterprise risk management framework provides the structure by which our principal risks are

managed. It ensures our risk management, strategy and governance are aligned; that the business operates

within a clearly defined and understood risk appetite and capacity; that robust systems, controls and reporting

are in place to manage risk effectivety; and that appropriate corporate governance structures are in place to

support risk management.

Board and Committees

• Approve and oversee strategy execution
• Top-down risk identification and assessment, and

Governance review of stress-testing
and oversight - Strategy development process including

assessment of key risks and mitigants

J
Set Premium Credit’s risk appetite

- Review rIsk out of appetite or tolerance

Executive management

- Establish and execute Premium Credit strategy
• Identification of strategic risks and mitigation

strategic plans
alignment - Assurance, oversight and monitoring of risks,

processes and controls

J
Top-down reviews

Business unit functional heads

• Bottom-up reviews
• Translation of strategic objectives and regulatory

Functional requirements into operational plans
assessment • Identification of functional risks and mitigation

plans
- Monitor performance and compliance against key

objectives and regulatory requirement
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Our 3 lines of defence model

Company Number: 08179245

We operate a classic three lines of defence approach in managing the risks that the business faces, including

Credit risk.
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Our undewriting philosophy combines sophisticated irsdividua credit assessments and the automated

efficiencies of a scored dec;sion-making process, Information on each applicant is combined with credit

reference agency data to provide a complete credit picture of the applicant and the borowing requested. Key

information isvalidated through a combinat.cn of documentation and statistical data wh.ch col.ectively provioes

evidence of the applicant’s ab:lity and w:l:ingncss to pay tne amount contracted under the loan agreement. In

assessing credit risk, even where we have the benefit of contract refundability or recourse against our

intermediary partner, the applicant’s ability and propensity to repay the loan remain the principal factors in the

decision to lend.

Emerging risk

We have a dynamic approach to monitoring regulatory change, industry trends and other external factors that

ensures we have a clear view of any emerging risks. We also maintain risk registers based on both bottom-up

and top-down input to ensure we consider all granular risks alongside larger strategic and operational risks.

Responsthle
parties

ResponsibiIitie5’
‘

ii’

__JL_._

Underwriting

L
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COVID-19

Like many organisations, pandemic risks were on our risk registers and on our radar, although they were

understandably considered to have a relatively low likelihood of occurring, Importantly, operational resilience

has been a key area of focus for us over recent years and we were able to manage our response to the COVID

19 outbreak with minimal impact on the business. We also have business continuity and incident management

protocols that are regularly tested, with our ISO 22301 accreditation demonstrating that our management

systems are prepared to protect against, reduce the likelihood of, and respond to and recover from disruptive

incidents. With such plans in place, our response to the situation was able to be last, efficient and seamless.

UK exit from the European Union

W’th a trade deal being agreeo between the UK and the EU, we continue to monitor the potential impacts on

our busir,ess and our key stakehoders. However, we have been preparing for the change for a number of years

and are confident in our approach to analysing and reactng to reguiatory change in general.

Climate change

Climate change and the risks this will create for the financia1 services sector is on our radar, with discussions at

an early stage in terms of developing our approach to managing such climate-related financial risks.

Long-term viability

Though the COVD-19 pandemic has inevitably had an impact on our financal performance, the business has

shown great preparation, control, and resilience to unprecedented circumstances Our seamless transition to an

entirely new way of working, our robust performance and our close stakeholder relationships all demonst’ate

the strength and flexibility of the business and its people.

Our record of financial performance is a1so recognised by our funders, as demonstrated by the leve of support

they have shown during the year.
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Principal risks and mitigation

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks tivough its day-to-day operations.

Company Number: 05179245

A summary of the risks aid uncertainties whch couid prevent the achievement of our strategic objectives, of

now we seek to mitigate those risks and the change in the perceived level of each risk in the last financia year,

is described below.

This ana yss repesents our risk position as presented to, and discussed by, the Audit, Risk and Compliance

Committee as part of its ongoing monitoring of our risk profile.

This summary does not represent a complete statement of all pote-tal risks and -uncertainties we face, but

rather Those which we believe have the potential to have a signifcant nipact on our financial oerfo-mance and

future prospects.

Strategic risk ‘•-r
•

IL - - - . -

-

Business risk

Description Mitigants
The Group is unable to maintain • We have a strong record of operating successfully in our chosen markets
business volumes and/or margins in throughout our 32-year history, which we have achieved by continually
line with planned volumes and grow improving our service proposition.
the customer and/or distribution • We maintain strong relationships with our partners, customers and
base on an ongoing basis, software house integrators.

• During CDVID-19 our origination volume increased, with some minor
changes between business lines, reflecting the robustness of our business
model.

Competition risk

Description Mitigants
Add,tiona. competitors (dfrectly or . Our ousiness model creates natural barriers to entry through scale,
indirectly) erter the Group ‘s divers:fied distribution with term contracts, embedded technology
chosen rrarket areas, or the Group solutions, our position at the forefrcnt of:he regulatory agenda, strong risk
is unable to compete with the managemert and efficient funding.
competiticn in a profitable manner- • Most of these also confer us credibility which is valued by intermediary

partners when entering into contracts with us.
• We are active n ndustry-wide groups that enable market trends to be

identified and aodressed.

• We monitor comoet:tors’ products, pr:cing and positions to enable us to
keep our own propos;tion under review.
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Company Number: 08179245

The eve: of operations in Ireland in reation to the Group as a whole is such

that the foreign exchange risk is deemed to be acceptable.

‘ave continue to monitor the uncertainty around the UK’s withdrawal from

the European Union and its impact on our foreign exchange risk.

j4’fr1

Liquidity and funding risk

Description Mitigants

nsufficient Cash is availabe or • The Group has a treasury function responsible for the day-to-day

generated from either assets or management of its liquid’ty and funding.
lrabilites or outside sources to meet • We produce and monitor a forecast of our short-tern, cash balances on a
the Groups short-term financ;ai daly basis.
requirements. • We maintain sufficient cash balances to cover operationa. needs, as well as

cover for unexpected l:quidity cha!lenges stemming from the challenging
I econOmC environment.

• We ensure sufficient headroom in our funding faniiities, and manage their

maturities conservatively. Most of the funding is provided by a Master Trust

Securitisation Programme that provides access to public markets funding

alongside a syndicate of bank funders.

• A monthly Asset and Liability Committee (‘ALCO’) reviews the Group’s

liquidity and funding forecast, including through the use of stress tests, and

reports to the Executive Risk Committee.

• In 2020, we amended our main funding facilities (through PCL Asset

Trustee Limited), with the consent of our funding banks and the rating

agencies, in order to retain structural flexibility in the changing context of

the COVID-19 pandemic.

• In Mizzen Bondco Limited, a subsidiary, borrowings at the end of

December 2020 inclurJed a £190 million Senior Term Loan facility due 2025

secured by a 6.5% fixed rate change plus a variable LIBOR margin over

certain assets of the M,zzen Mezzco Limited Group. The Senior Term Loan

was drawn on 1.6” January 2020, with its net proceeds applied towards the

redemption of the whole aiiiotint of Mizzen Bondco Limited’s previous

borrowings.

Interest rate risk

Description Mitigants

Unfavourable interest rate • The Group has the ability through contractual rate ratchets to reprice future

movements affect Premium lending in the event of interest rate increases above a contractual minimum,

Credit’s results in a • The Group’s asset backed funding facilities are variable rate facilities, which
disproportionate manner, are either SONIA-linked, or LIBOR-linked with SONIA replacement language.

• We calculate our interest rate exposure through the Interest Rate Gap

measure, representing the rate sensitive assets minus the rate sensitive

liabilities. The Interest Rate Gap is reviewed on a monthly basis at ALCO.

• Our loans have short maturities that makes our results less sensitive to

changes in interest rates.

Foreign exchange risk

Description Mitigants

Unfavourable FX movements affect

Premium Credit’s results in a

disproportionate manner.

The proportion of our loan book denominated in currencies other than

Sterling is low.
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Mitfgants

Counterparty exposure risk

Description Mitigants

Risks of financial loss arising from a • We carry out due diligence on all intermediary partners with whom we
courrterparty failing, for whatever enter into trading relationships. These include insurance brokers,
reason, to honour financial, distribution partners for our specialist lending products, as well as
operational or other obligations to insurers.
the Group in accordance with • Once a relationship is in place, we continuously monitor the financial,
agreed terms or requirements. regulatory and trading performance of our partners Our Credit Policy was

reviewed and updated in 2020 to more proactive:y ioentify and mitigate
counterparty risk.

• Where advance commisson payments are made the intermediary
partners, these are sub;ert to a modeling exercise to determine the level
off nancial risk that we are prepared to accept from any given partner.

• For insurers, there is a regular monitoring and eval_ation of exposure and
financial condition is undertaken, especially for unrated insurers.

• The r&ority of our products bene’it from several layers of prctection,
where the failure of a counterparty can be compeisated by oerformance
obligations of another. As an example, upon a default of a consumer we
have recourse for the loan baance from the insurance intermediary
partner - thou d that partrer default as well, we would seek to recover its
remaining value from the service prov:der.

Credit underwriting risk

Description

I CreditandCounterpartyRlsk -- — -

—

.

Financial loss arisng from relevant
parties failing to nieet financial
obligations to repay Premium
Credit in accordance with agreed
terms, or Premium Cred.t makes
poor lerding decisons

• We have strong affordability risk assessment and underwriting policies in I
place setting out detailed criteha for .endng. In addition, we have
rigorous and robust collections and recovery processes in place to manage
arrears.

• The Credit Poicy is regularly reviewed and updated, to further strengthen
current processes and procedures within the credit risk function.

• On a significant proportion of our products, the underying policy or
service iscancelied if the service is not paid for. in tne event the customer
does not pay, Premium Credit either has recourse to the inte-n-eoiary
partner, or Premium Credit can seek payment from the underlying insurer
or service provider.

• Faced with the various stages of the COVID-19 pandemic (lockdown,
closures and openings, start and end of state support) or the UK’s exit of
the European Union, we have continuously and proactively updated our
underwriting criteria.

• Our loans have short maturities, which ensures any changes In

underwriting criteria result in rapid impact on our loan book’s
performance. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, our book has
been almost completely re-underwritten.

PAGE 25



Mizzen Mezzco Limited
Annual Report arid Financial Statements 2020

Company Number: 02179245

l&1k!LliII9!iaaiJ
uriII

Regulatory infraction risk

Description Mitigants

Failure to meet or comply with • We have Risk, Compliance and Legal teams that review key emerging
regulatory requirements and regulatory developments to assess the impact on our business. Expert third
expectations beyond that of the party advice is also sought where necessary.
risk appetite, or this is not • We have an active outsourced internal audit function.
managed in a controlled and • The Compliance team has developed a formal monitoring plan which is
proportionate manner, reviewed by the Executive Risk Committee and approved by the Board Risk

Committee.

• We have regular interaction with our regulators.

. All colleagues are required to undertake regulatory compliance training.

I t%
Technology risk

Description Mitigants

Riskthat Premium Creditdoes not • The management of Technology Risk continues to be an area of ongoing
maintaIn and invest in its core locus.
systems and infrastructure to • We are migrating from legacy IT platforms onto new infrastructure
ensure that they remain adequate including cloud.
and operate effectively for • We continually make investment in development of systems, including IT
colleagues and other project management, implementation planning and cyber-risk
stakeholders. management.

Cyber risk

Description Mitigants

Failure to maintain sufficient • To mitigate these risks, the business has implemented a new cyber security
controls and measures to ensure team that assesses risk around the clock, including increased risk caused by
cyber security. With our entire remote working.
business working from home • We have continued to invest in cyber security in 2020. through flew
since March 2020. there is firevaIs and transfer & an increased amount of data into cloud
heightened cyber risk throLgl’ the environments.
use of many different \NiFi • Ensuring that the staff contlnue to be ‘cyber aware’ is also a key element of
networks and increased stress our defence strategy, with a schedule of campaigns to drive behavioural
from the human and financial change and response to external attacks.
implications of the oandemic. The • \‘Ve have a programme of thrd-pa’-ty assurance for both the governance
same challenges appy to third- and the technica infrastructure of our cyber security.
party suppliers and vendors • We hold an insurance pohcy against cyber incdents.
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• We have a suite of policies focused on the fair treatment of customers,
including where they are vulnerable.

• Our Executive Risk Committee receives details of all complaints and
operational risk incidents that have affected customers, together with
actions to address any unfairness.

• Where any activities are identified that result in unfair customer outcomes,
we are focused on ensuring that they are addressed as a matter of priority
and that any adverse impact on the customer is promptly remedied.

• In 2020 we have implemented processes to identify vulnerable customers
more easily, classify them more accurately into vulnerability categories and
review them on a regular basis.

• We have also improved the process and the speed of granting forbearance
and waived our missed payment fees in numerous circumstances.

Mizzen Meaaco Limited

Annual Report and financial Starements 2020

Process and controls risk

company Number: 08179245

Description Mitigants

Lack of adequate processes and • We have developed risk management frameworks, systems and processes,
controls to conduct our business, including IT project management.
take remedial action where issues • We continually review our risk management approach to intermediaries
are identified In order to adhere and outsourced partners tc reflect the regulatory environment in wh.ch we
to the rsk management ocerate.
framework and the requirements • Our Executive Committee and the ffrm’s wider senior leadership team are
of external stakeholders. engaged in reviewing the top risks on a quarterly basis; an assessment of

the mitigants and the;r effectiveness is made bcth by the front office as wel
as our second line of defence

• An annual internal audit review plan is undertaken across a number of
critical risk-based areas to provide assurance and monitoring oversight.

Customer outcomes and conduct risk

Description Mitigants

The risk of unfair treatment of and

/ or detriment to Premium
Credit’s customers due to
inappropriate execution of
business activities and processes,
including the sale of unsuitable
products.
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Financial review

The Group’s controlling party, Cinven Partners (‘Cinven’), is a UK private equity fund. Accordingly, the Annual

Report and Financial Statements for 2020 have been prepared in accordance with the Walker Guidelines for UK

companies in private equity ownership. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with international accounting standards in conformity and the Company financial statements under

UK GAAP (FRS 101} in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006.

2020 was a strong yea- for the business. Despite the extraordinarily challenging economic environment we

increased the value of loans orignated by 19%, reflecting notably easier or:gination journeys as a result of

technology investments in recent years.

Net interest income grew by 3.8% as we successfully maintained our margins on the higher origination amount.

vVe increased our fee income through the introduction of a new facility fee on certain products. This was offset

by iower missed payment fees caused partially by the strong credit performance of the loan portfolio, and

partially by our proactive waiving of fees for those customers experiencing financial difficulties. As a result, our

Total income grew by 2.3% to £110.6 million (2019: £108.1 million).

Our credit performance remained very strong also, with net credit losses only being £0.5 million higher than in

the previous year. Our IFRSO provisions have increased by £1.2 million, driven by uncertainty on the continuation

of government support schemes, while in 2019 the Group had benefited from a £1.1 million release.

Finally, our administrative expenses decreased by 21.3% (14.7% excluding foreign currency gains! (losses)),

reflecting the strong scalability of our operating model as a result of significant technology investment made

over recent years.

These factors led to a Profit before tax for 2020 of £29.0 million (2019: £32.3 million) and an ESITDA of £65.1

million (2019: £67.1 million).

yearended yearended Change Change
31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

£ million £ million £ million

Amount of loans originated 3,587 3,520 67 1.9%

Net interest income 97.7 94.1 3.6 3.8%

Fee income 16.9 17.8 (0,9) (5.1)%

Total income 110.6 108.1 2.5 2.3%

Administrative Expenses 60.5 76.9 (16.4) (21.3)%

Amounts written off on loans to
6.4 5.9 05 8.5%

C ustonie rs

lncrease/(decreasel of

irnpa!rment provsions on loans 1.2 (1.1) 2.3 n/a%

to customers

I Operating profit 48.9 32.3 16.6 51.4%

EBITDA 65.1 67.1 (2.0) (3.0)%

1. EBiTDA is a profit measurement which is not specifically defined under or presented in accordance svilh IFRS, or any

other Generatly Accepted Accounting Principles and that excludes certain non-cash items, non’recurri9g costs, foreign

exchange gains/losses, tax and interest, other than the interest costs incurred as part of our Securlisation Programme.

See EBITOA reconciiation table to our Operating Profit on page 30.
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Loans originated

The amount of loans originated grew by 2.9% to £3.6 billion (2019: £3.5 bil9on), led by Our insurance premium

finance products which grew by 6.1%. The growth reflects the essential nature of much of our ending, the

increasing penetration of our products with both our established and our new partners, smoother origination

Journeys as a result of recent yea’s’ investment in technology, together with the countercyclical nature of our

business.

Certain sectors within insurance premium finance were however impacted bytne reduction in economic activ:ty

in 2020 reiated to C0v:D-19: motor nsurance, as a result of the closure of car showrooms and the suspension

of driving tests; travel nscrance as a resu.t ofa sharp dec’ease in ‘o’eign travel; and dentists’ liability cover, as

a result of fewer customer appointments being available.

Net Acvances in o,r specialist lending products decreased in 2020, mostly driven by a temporary reduction n

demand for tax products given COVID-19 support packages and deferrals granted by the government, Some

leisure and school fees products were also affected in the first half of the year as lockdowns took place, but

recovered in the second half. Our FCA fees products have seen growth compared to last year.

Net interest income

Net interest income comprises interest earned on our loans to customers less interest payable on our funding.

Net interest income grew by 3.8% to £97.7 million (2019: £94.1 million) through slightly higher margins earned

on higher average receivables balances during the year. Interest income decreased by £1.3 million to £113.1

million (2019: £114.4 million while interest expense decreased by £4.9 million to £15.4 million (2019: £20.4

million).

Fee income

Fee income includes upfront facility fees, missed payment fees and chaser fees for unsigned contracts, which

are categorised as ‘cost recovery’. Our fee income was 5,1% lower than the previous year, mainly due to a

decrease in missed payment fees to £8 million (2019: ElI. million); this decrease reflects both the strong credit

performance of our loan portfolio, and our proactive approach in waiving missed payment fees for those

customers subject to temporary fina ncial diff:culties.

The decrease in missed payment fees was partially offset by a new facility fee charged on certain products at

inception of the loan, which is designed to compensate for the increased ‘egulatory cost of onboa’ding and

monitoring borrowers. The rollout of that facility fee commenced in 2019 and was still ongoing at the end of

2020.

Administrative expenses

Adn’in:strat.on expenses decreased byEl6.4 mil,ion or 21.3% year-on-year, of which non-cash fore:gn curency

gains and osses represent £4.3 milion.

StaF costs decreased by £1.6 million as a result & a reduction in the size of our Executive Committee, as wel as

certain vacancies remaining on hold as a result of the COVID-19 crisis.

IT-related expenditure decreased by £4.2 million reflecting a change in our delivery model following recent

years’ investments and an increased ability for front office departments to self-serve data.

The balance relates to a reduction in marketing and travel expenses, a release of certain accruals made in respect

of debt restructuring, and in respect of prior years’ staff incentive schemes, offset by higher credit losses and

one-off costs related to restructure of the Group.
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Credit losses and provisions

Aside from the mandatory or critical nature of the products we finance, the short average remaining life of the

loan book (3.3 months at year-end) allows for a rapid impact of changes in our credit underwriting rules. This

was evidenced in the write offs on loans to customers, net of recoveries, which amounted to £6.4 million (2019:

£5.9 million), despite the extraordinarily challenging economic environment.

Our IFRS9 impairment provisions have increased by £1.2 million to £6.5 million, while in 2019 the Group had

benefited from a £1.1 million release.

EBITDA

Our 2020 EBITDA was €65.1 million (2019: £67.1 million). The difference of €2.0 million mostly relates to

conservative changes in credit provisions (€2.3 million between year-ends).

The table below reconciles our profit before taxation to our EBITDA.

£ million 2020 2019

Profit for the year before taxation 29.0 — 17.3

Finance expense 19.9 15.0

Depreciation and amortisation 7.0 70

New information technology investments 5.8 7.9

Write-off of securitisation programme setup fees 2.6 4.6

Restructuring costs 1.6 3.3

Foreign currency (gain)/loss (1.5) 2.8

One-time Covid related Expenditure 2.6 0.0

Sponsor Fees 0.4 0.4

Other2 (2.3) 7.9

EBITDA1 -
65.1 67.1

Costs include the performance triggers amenmerts in our Securitisation Programme, and additional staff costs due to the

COV1D-19 pandem:c.

For 2020, th’s represents mainly a release 01 a provision in respect of legal and professional fees for the refinancing ol the
Senior notes at the siart of 2020, wh.ch in the opinion of the Directors, is no longer required 1E2.Cml, a release of accruals

made in respect of prior years’ staff ri cenlive schemes (El. im) and offset from losses on retirement affixed assets (EO.Sml.
For 2019, this represents legai and pro’essicral fees in relation to the Ser.ior Loan notes, including the above mentioned
provision, (f4.3m(, a revision of operating model costs (E1.Dm). final costs relating to a cyber incident in 2018 i0 Im),
accruals relalir.g to staff incentive schemes (E0.Sm) and finance charges relating to implementation of IFRS1S (L0.3m).

Defin,:ion of CBITDA
EBITOA represents profit for the year before taxation, interest payable and similar charges (other than nterest expense of

our Securicisation Programme(, depreciation and amortisation (aside from the amortisation of any fees of our Securitisation

Programmel, certain transaction costs, one-time information technology initiatives and other non-operating costs including
restructuring costs.

EB1TDA is not specifically defined under, or presented in accordance with, IFRS or any other generally accepted accounting

principles and you should not consider it as an alternative to profit for the year or any other performance measures

derived in accordance with IFRS. The company may incur expenses similar to the adjustments in this calculation in the

future and certain of these items could be considered recurring in nature. The presentation of EBITOA should not be

construed as an inference that the companys future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. In

evaluating EBITOA, the Company encourages you to evaluate each adjustment and the reasons it considers it appropriate

as a method of supplemental analysis.
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Cash

At 31 December 2020, the Group had a cash balance of €124.3 million, an increase of 45.7% from 2019

(€85.5 million).

The movement in the cash balance from the prior year is notably led by our decision to retain cash in the business

to maxii,lise its liquidity position given the challenging economic environment.

The Group made no dividend payment in 2020(2019: £nil).

Loans to customers

.oans to customers have decreased by 0.9% to £1,232.3 million at 31 December 2020(2019: £1,445.4 mi’lion).

These loans wh:ch had already oeen &sbursed to our partners (the ‘outstanding tundec principal balance’) as at

31 December 2o2oamounted to€1,030.1 million (2019: £1,042.3 million), withthe difference between the loans

to customers and the outs:anding funded principal balance representing payables due to our partners.

Funding

We ob:ain external funding through an unsecured revolving credit fac:lity (‘RCF’), and through a master trust

securitisarion programme (the ‘Securitisation Programme’).

The RCF is provided by a bank, for an a’ount of £7 mii’ion (2019: £7 millionI of which fnil was draw, as at

31 December 2020 (2019: End). The RCF was renewed n September 2020 and matures in September 2021.

The Securitisation Programme is provided through an intercompany loan from PCL Asset Trustee Limited, a

special purpose vehicle to which we assign the majority of the receivables we originate. a Asset Trustee

Limited refinances itself through oans from standalone special purpose vehicles that issue either p.Jb:ic asset-

backed term notes on the cap:tal marketsorvariabie funding notesto a syndicate of banks. Our interestexpense

ulti’riately reflects the interest rates obtained by the various special purpose vehicles of the Securitisatior

Programme.

The Securtisation Programme comprises two series of public asset-backed securities, one issued in November

2017 for £283.5 million with a reinvestment period end-date of June 2021, and cne issued in October 2020 for

£378.C niil,ion with a reinvestment perod end-date of September 2022, as wel: as a £826.C million variable

funding notes facility (the ‘VEN’) with a reinvestment period end-date of October 2022. The VFN was establsHwo

ri 2012 and has benefited from reguarextensionsor aniendnients; itwas astamended in June 2C20. The public

asset-backed issues are rated by Moody’s and DBRS, with 85% of the issuance rated Aaa/AAA.

In June 2020, certain performance triggers were amended both on the VFN and the then-outstanding asset-

backed issues, with the assent of the VFN funders and the rating agencies. The amendments were intended to

grant structural flexibility in the context of C0V10-19, in order to accommodate potential fluctuations in

performance,

The Securitisation Programme has a total size of £1,437.5 million 2019: £1,391.5 million). As at 31 December

2020, £980.2 million was drawn down (2019: £988.2 million). The undrawn portion of the Securitisation

Programme of £507.3 million is available to fund growth in the business, and to refinanre maturing public asset-

backed securities series.

Debt maturity profile

£507.3 million of undrawn VFN
headroom available to fund loan book
growth and upcoming asset-backed
maturities

2021 2022
• Public asjot-hacLd issues • Drawn yEN
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Operating for the benefit of all our stakeholders

The Board considers the needs and concerns of all stakeholders in its running of the Group. By seeking to

understand the differing stakeholder interests and impacts through a proactive programme of engagement, the

Directors ensure its decision-making is informed and that the development and delivery of our strategy leads to

long-term sustainable success for Premium Credit.

This section articulates how the Directors have acted to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of its

stakeholders. In meeting this responsibility during the year, the Directors have had regard, amongst other

matters, to,

A. the likely consequences of any decisions in the long term;

B. the interests of the Group’s employees;

C. the need to foster the Group’s business relationships with partners, customers, suppliers and others;

D. the impact of the Group’s operations on the community ard environment:

E, the Group’s reputahon for high standards of business conduct; and

F. the need to act fairly as between members of the Group.

Stakeholders How we engage Their material issues

Colleagues
• WeHbeing and Work ng from • Health, safety and wellbeing

We are committed to creating a home survey training ard development
high-performance culture in which • Annual engagement survey opportunities
colleagues are accountable for • Performance evaluations • Career progression and
their work whilst feeling engaged • Regular team meetings, recognition
and empowered to deliver cn their including CEO and Executive • Compensation and
objectives. Committee Q&A sessions incentives

• Group culture and
reputation

Customers
• Customer feedback • Seamless and easy products

We serve over two mi lion retail, mechanisms (Trustpiot, and solutions
SME and corporate ciients Our satisfaction surveys) • Sutable products wth clear
ab:lity to assist them in spreading • Dedicated complaints team information
the cost of essential products such witbn our contact centre • Additional help and support
as insurance over instalment is • Mechanics to support where necessary
via, and we want to do so in a customers with financial • Customer service
responsible and comol:ant way. difi:culties
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Partners
. Regular performance • Sean’Iess and easy products

Vie have a diversified network of meetings and solutions for their
over 3,003 partners. These • ‘rovjsion of insights and customers
re!ationships are crucial because analytics • Building long-term
they provide access to our end- • Developing sates and partnerships
customers, marketing strategies

together
• Internal tratning

Shareholders
• Attendance at Board • Financial and operational

The Board regards effective meetings performance
communication with snareholders • One-to-one meetings • Long-term growth
as crucial to understanding and • Monthly performance • Business model and strategy
meeting their needs and reporting — both • Capital allocation
expectations. financial and non-financial • Dividends

• ESG

Investors

• Monthly securitisation • Return on investment
We regularly issue asset-backed investor reporting • Timely reporting
securities, Our investors expect an • Deal and non-deal • Regular issuance
appropriate return on investment. roadshows • ESG

Regulators

• Regular, open and • Compliance
The Group works actively with our transparent reporting • Financial security
regulators as well as industry • Proactive engagement • IT and operational resilience
bodies and other relevant • Membership of industry
stakeholders to ensure our bodies to ensure
serv;ces remain at the forefront of oartcipation in industry
compliance. wde discussions

Community

• °artnership with Insurance . Charitabie and community
We recognise that our actions United Against Dementia support
have an impact beyond our • Reduce the amount of • Environmental impact
immediate stakeholders and material that is sr:nted
understand our responsibilities to • Internal ‘Team Premium’
society and our local communities, acting as ambassadors for

our values and our
community
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Responsible business

Premium Credit believes in a responsible approach to business. This means living our purpose and values,

behaving responsibly and ethically, working with our employees, partners and customers to build lasting

relationships, and demonstrating to all our stakeholders that we understand the impacts of our operations and

the decisions we make.

This year we have reassessed our responsible business efforts, reforming a new Corporate Social Responsibility

(CSR) Committee, with particular focus on core areas, namely People & Culture, Community & Environment and

Governance & Ethics. An initial benchmarking assessment of the Environmental, Governance & Ethics

performance was made using the Ecovadis system as a basis for measure, with actions underway to further

improve.

A cultural dashboard to better monitor, measure and report on our collective efforts against the focus areas of

our CSR strategy, has been developed and will help improve our performance and ensure a sustainable, long-

term future for the Group.

Alongside the work to update our purpose and strategy this year, we also looked at our existing values to ensure

they were aligned with what we are and how we operate, Following a full engagement process with each of our

team members, over a three-month period, we sought to understand the behaviours and attitudes that were

most important to colleagues and how they should be captured and communicated. This resulted in the

development of four new values:

Stand Together - Work as one team

Stand Up - Be relied upon to get it done

Stand True - Act with honesty and integrity

Stand Out - Embrace originality, courage and passion

Going forward, these values will form a key part of our people leadership framework and will be used in

performance appraisals, in our development platform and in recruitment. Read more about the people

leadership framework on page 38.

Key highlights

• Customer satisfaction at record levels

• Colleague engagement score at 78%, an all-time high and up 23% percentage points year on year

• Colleague engagement survey response rate up 13 percentage points to 93%, another record high

• Absenteeism lowest in five years

Priorities for 2021

• Embed purpose and values

• Deploy competency model into our people leadership framework

• Plan and test a blended future office/at home working model

• Roll out of ‘future leaders’ programme to better support leadership in a remote environment
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Our cultural dashboard

In 2020 we established a cultural dashboard to better understand and measure our responsible business

performance. This allows us to assess the actions of our leadership and colleagues, and how we are performing

against our purpose, vision and values and the focus areas of our CSR strategy. Compiled and monitored at an

executive level, it is also presented to the Board on a quarterly basis.

The dashboard is focused on four areas of performance:

• Customer and partner sentiment

• Colleague sentiment

• Societal sentiment

• Organisational temperature

Customer and partner sentiment

What our customers and partners say and feel about Premium Credit and how we compare with our peer
competitors.

What we’ve done in 2020

• Established a Trustpilot programme
• Net Promoter Score (‘NPS’) relaunch

• Improved ongoing Customer and Partner Satisfaction Surveys (‘CSAT’ and ‘PSAT’) and optimised
the use oF the resultant data - including a new deep dive on customers’ complaints

Key metrics
• CSAT’: 85% (target: 80%)
• Trustpilot score: 4.6/S (target: 4.5)
• NPS: +24(2019: +9)
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Colleague sentiment

What our colleagues, both past and present think about working for Premium Credit and the culture we

espouse.

What we’ve done in 2020
• Completed annual engagement survey
• Conducted extra pulse surveys for measuring colleague wellbeing and working from home during

COVID-19
• New analysis of absenteeism and employee turnover
• Initiated use of Glassdoor metrics, with staff encouraged to write a review

• New productivity dashboards

Key metrics
• Annual engagement survey results

o Response rate - 93% (2019:80%)
o Engagement score - 78% (2019: 55%)

• Wellbeing and Working from Home survey results
o 85% response rate, with 358 colleagues completing the survey

o 97% agreed or strongly agreed that they were satisfied with the support received

o 97% agreed or strongly agreed that they received regular and helpful comms
o 80% said interaction with their own team was the same or improved

• Glassdoor score: 4.3 (target: 4.0)
• Employee turnover - 14.4% (2019: 23.0%)

Societal sentiment

How we are perceived in the wider community and what impact our culture has on the environment and the

role we play in our business dealings

What we’ve done in 2020
• Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee reformed
• Initial benchmarking assessment of the key areas of our CSR performance, with actions underway to

further improve
• Engaged with ESOS (Energy Savings Opportunities Scheme) to measure where we are with

sustainability and get an external perspective
• Formed a diversity and inclusion council to drive initiatives in this area

Key metrics
• cSR performance score: Bronze sustairsability rating
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Organisational temperature

How the organisation is performing— do our actions match our words and does our ownership of these deliver
the right outcomes for our customers, colleagues and partners?

What we’ve done in 2020
• Carried out our stakeholder engagement programme
• Reviewed actions points from our external audit partner
• Ongoing mandatory training as part of our learning management system
• Delivered annual performance reviews

Key metrics
• Compliance training completion 100% (2019 Q4: 100%)
• Performance review completion rate 100% (2019: 103%)
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People and culture

Company Number: 05119245

Our successful response to the COVID-19 pandemic was reliant on the skills and dedication of our people and

the culture of collaboration and support we have fostered. Both remain central to our ability to deliver on our
purpose, our strategy and our growth ambitions as we move towards a post-COVID world.

Ensuring the health and wellbeing of our people was central to the actions we took this year. The development

of the cultural dashboard will improve our understandingof colleague productivity, performance and sentiment

going forwards, and we have also refreshed our CSR committee with better representation from across the

business and new terms of reference. It meets regularly to contribute to our people and culture policies,

initiatives and activities.

With very positive sentiment towards the working from home model that became necessary in 2020, plans are

already developing for a long-term model, and we remain committed to providing the right working

environment for our people to perform to the best of their abilities.

People Framework

To deliver on our previous strategic priority of embedding a high-performance culture framework, we have

developed a competency framework that will enable us to achieve our objectives by aligning performance and

behaviours to our purpose, values and core strategic outcomes.
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Wellbeing

Colleague welbeing became a key priority with our teams working from home for the first time. We warted

everyone to feel conr.ected ano supported, part:cularly anyone lying alore or shelding due to the virus. To

achieve this, we impemented a weibeing and communications strategy includ:ng regular leadership updates,

oneto-one calls with HR and an online forum to allow colleagues to connect and participate in games and

activities such as yoga classes, cooking classes and competitions. We also offered counselling support through

our employee benefits platform. We saw a high take up of these wellbeing initiatives and 97% of survey

respondents agreed or strongly agreed that they were satisfied with the support received

Training and development

We approach training and development with the desire for people to understand their natural strengths and

preferred ways of working and to have the tools to increase their personal awareness and improve team

effectiveness. We want to build resilience throughout the Group, equipping people with the knowledge and

skills to move foi-ward during challenging times.

Our established learning management system and online training platform were both very successful in

maintaining delivery of all compliance trainng in 2020 despite the mpact of the pandemic,

In resporse to COVlD19 and the new ways of wo-king that have Deer establiseo, we have created a robust

future eaoers programme wth the aim of bringing leadership skills to all levels of the business. It wi I formalise

the passing of knowledge and encourage colleagues to take ownership of their own development. This will be

aunched in 2021.

Recruitment and retention

We are committed to attracting and retaining the best talent in order to achieve our strategic ob1ertives, and

our new competency framework will help with that going forward. Retention rates have been strong this year,

with average employee turnover down to 14.8%. With good retention and the ongoing pandemic drawing focus,

recruitment in 2020 has been minimal, but a potential change in our working model in the future may give us

the ability to focus on skills and talent beyond geographical constraints.

Diversity and inclusion

Premium Credit is committed to promoting equality and our policies and processes follow best practice on equal

opportunities for all employees. Decisions about recruitment, selection, training, promotion or any other aspect

relating to a person’s employment with the Group are made regardless of gender, sexual orientation, disability,

marital status, age, race, religious or political beliefs.

We give full and fa:r cons,deration to applications for employment from disabled persons, having regard to cher

parzcular aptitudes and abiiities. Appropriate arrangements are made for the continued emp’oyment and

training, caeer development and oromotion 0’ disab ed persons employed by the Group. If members of staff

become dsabled, the Group contirues employment, either in the same or an alternative position, with

appropriate ret’aining being giver, if necessary.

Thisyearwe formed a new diversityard inclusion council with representativesfrom acrcssthe Groupto manage

and drive our diversity and inclusion programme. We also used the engagement survey to gather more

demographic information in order to inform our actions and goals going forward. Initiatives to date include

setting up a new diversity and inclusion forum.
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Composition of the workforce

We have 378 employees working in the UK and Ireland (excluding Chat and Non-Executive Directors) at the end

of the year.

The below table shows the gender diversity at the end of the year:

2020 2019

Men Women Men Women

Board 87% 13% 90% 10%

Sen:or Management 82% 18% 79% 21%

Other Employees I 50% -
- 50% 53% 47%

Gender paygap

The Group has c&cuated its gender pay gap as at April 2020- The table below shows the overal mean and

median gender pay gap based on hourly rates of pay at the snapshot date, it also Captures the mean and medla9

difference between bonuses paid to men and women in the year up to S April2020.

Difference between men and Difference between men

women (Mean) and women (Median)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Hourly rate (this is a prescribed 30.8% 41.5% 36.5% 41.9%

calculation based on fixed pay)

Bonus amount 60.1% 66.3% 38.4% 515%

We are pleased all four metrics have improved compared to 2019. Median Gender pay gap for 2020 is 36.5%,

down from 41.9% last year. This means that women earn an average of 36.5% less per hour (excluding overtime)

than men, or in other words, the average female employee would earn 63.Sp for every £1 earned by a male

employee.

The underlying reason behind the gender pay gap is predominantly due to the lower representation of women

in senior leadership positions and IT roles within the business. The bonus gap is also affected by lower

representation of women in sales roles. The Group is confident that it does not have any processes or practices

which would see people being paid differently due to their gender.

The Group pays equal pay for equal work and therefore addressing the gender pay gap is about increasing the

proportion of women in more highly paid roles.

Average tenure of employees

The average tenure of employees measures the average length of service across the workfo:ce, We are pleased

to report that the average tenure in 2020 was 7.0 years (2019: 6.2 years). There is a good mix of employees with

ong tenure, and therefore Group experience, and newer colleagues who bring external skills to the Group.
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Community & Environment
Our society and community efforts during the year weie largely focused on suppoc-ng consumers and

businesses facing the economic impacts of the pandemic. however, the refreshed CSR committee Continued to

meet regularly to discuss initiatives and to identify opportunities for the Group to de!iver economic, social and

environmenta. benefts.

Corporate charity partner

One of our 2020 commitments was to source a new corporate charity partner and early in the yea we chose

‘nsurance United Against Dementia (IUAD), an Alzheirner’s Socety movement created and championed by

eaders from across the insurance sector. As weh as an initial corporate donation to provide inimedate suppoz

to people ‘iving wtb deme_ta durng the pandemic, colleagues also contributed to the campa!gn tbrcgh

ongoing fundraising, creating awareness and volunteering to assist those affected by the condition,

During 2020 we also held regular remote fundraising events, with funds donated to a local hospital and other

COVID-impacted charities,

Environmental

During 2020 we increased the monitoring of our environmental impact as part of our cultural dashboard, seeking

to improve our processes and reduce our carbon footprint.

We carried out an initial benchmarking assessment of the key areas of impact, and initiated actions to address

weaknesses around documentation, reporting and measures.

We also engaged with ESOS (Energy Savings Opportunities Scheme) to measure where we are and get an

external perspective. We are looking at how to increase use of electric vehicles for our colleagues on the road,

and how to improve the efficiency of our offices once we return to them.

The table below shows our assessment of greenhouse gas emissions using the ‘GHG Reporting Protocol — A

Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard’ and In accordance with the Defra’s ‘Environmental Reporting

guidelines: including Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reportuig requirements’. This covers Premium Credit’s UK

emissions. 2020 was the first year of SECR reporting and as such we do not have comparatives.

Over the course of 2D20, Premium Credit’s operations have seen a reduct:on in energy use due to reduced

occupancy in the offices from March 2020 onwards. This erirnari y reflects our adherence to government.

mandated restrictions under its response to COVID-19 and that resulted in the remote working of nearly all staff

ard closure of the office for the rajority of 2020. Whilst this has also prevented PCt. undertaking any broader

initiatives to reduce our energy consumption, in 2021 we plan to progress initiatives to enhance our approach

to the management of our energy usage and in turn our GHG emissions.

- ‘1

Premium Credit Limited

Energy (kwh) Emissions

I—
656,669 153.1

Total

Elettdcity

Gai and géherator fuel

Trantpoi I fuel- Business travel in compara’ cars o employee-owned
vehicles where company Is responsible fol- purchasns the fuel

Intensity ratio: kWh-endttfl,ój 59. fto&upidflóor area

502,458 92,4

221,059 54.8

1,380,186 300.3

3239 o.ooiij
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Governance & Ethics

The Group seeks to operate as a responsible employer, whose corporate values and policies enable us to conduct

business in an honest, open and ethical manner. To assist in reinforcing these governing principles, the Group

has policies supportive of equal opportunities and diverse working environment, with a focus on the health,

safety and wellbeing of employees. The Group categorically condemns all instances of bribery and corruption,

harassment, bullying and discrimination.

Ethics and sustainable procurement are now being monitored as part of our Ecovadis dashboard. Initial

benchmarking showed opportunities to address issues in the availability of our ethics and sustainable

procurement policies, documentations and established measures in these areas.

Human Rig/its

The Group respects human rights as defined under the European Convention on Human Rights. The Group

published its latest statement on Modern Slavery during 2020 in accordance with the requirements of the

Modern Slavery Act 2015. There have been no alleged breaches of the Modern Slavery Act during 2020. Labodr

and human rights are also now being monitored as part o our Ecovadis metric dashboard.

AtRONC k&
2020

lecovadis
Sustainabikty

atng

Approval of strategic report

This section of the Annual Report comprises a Strategic Report for the Group, which has been drawn up and

presented in accordance witn, and in reliance upon, applicable English Company law, in particular Chapter4A of

the Companies Act 2006. The liabilities of the Directors in connection with this report shall be subject to the

‘imitatons and ‘estrictions provded by such law,

Approved by the Board on 26 April 2221 and signed on its behalf:

—iwn
Tara Waite

Director
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GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Tare, Waite — Chief Executive Officer

Mizzen Mezzco Limited, Premium Credit

Tara Waite oecame CEO in June 2019. She has over 20 years’ exper:ence in financial services ,n both UK and

nternational roles. Most recently she was Group CEO of Wonga Group Ltd, an international consumer lend;ng

business operating in Europe and South Africa. Prior to leading the Group, she “as CEO of its UK consumer

lending business, guiding it through its turnaround ano regulatory authorisation. Her former principal roles

include Managing Director & RSA Insurance Group’s UK SME and Delegated Authority b-jsiness, CEO of RSA’s

market leading business in Latvia, and management consultancy roles at Andersen and Ernst and Young. Tara is

currently on the boards of UK subsidiaries of Ageas. She holds a bachelor’s degree in Applied Physics from Trinity

College Dublin, and a master’s degree in Applied Physics, and is also a visiting Fellow at Oxford University’s Said

Business School.

Andrew Chopmon — Chief Financial Officer

Mizzen Mezzco Limited, Premium Credit

Andrew Chapman joined Premium Credit in 2004 in the Financial Planning & Analysis team. In 2013, he started

heading the Treasury & Investor Relations team, before being appointed as Chief Financial Officer in 2018.

Andrew has had many achievements at Premium Credit, but a notable highlight was his role as business lead on

its Securitisation Programme which won the prestigious IFR Award for EMEA Structured Finance deal of the year

in 2017. He has worked for the last six years under ownership by Private Equity as a key member of the value

creation team. Prior to joining Premium Credit, Andrew worked for Close Premium Finance for four years as

Financial Controller. Andrew Completed his training and qualified at RBS and he now holds FCCA status,

Maxim Crewe — Investor Director — Choir of the Remuneration committee

Pomegranate Topco, Premium Credit

Maxim Crewe joined Cinven in 2006 and is a partner leading the Consumer sector team. He is also a member of

the UK and reland regional team. He has been in volved in a number of transactions. incuding A:legro, Kurt

Geiger, NewDay, Partner in Pet Food and Planasa. Previcus!y he worked at Citigroup. wnere he was invoIvea in

corporate finance within the European Retal and Consume;- Group. Maxim has an MA in Poitics, Philosophy

and Economics from Oxford University.

Anthony Santaspirito — Investor Director

Mizzen Mezzco Limited, Premium Credit

Anthony Santospirito joined Cinven in 2011 and is a member of the Healthcare Secto team and the UK and

Irelan.d regional team. Aside from ‘renium Credit, he has been :nvolved in a number of investments, incLding

Barenta, BocIinica, CPA Global and Gondola. PreviousIy, Anthony was an associate at Morgan Staniey in the

Investment Banking Division, wcrki:’g across a range of sectors including media, mining, financial services, retal

and utilities. Anthony graduated from Ox’ord University with an MAn Matbematcs.
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Co/in Keogh — Non-executive Chairman

Premium Credit

Cohn Keogh joined the board as chair in 2015. He brings a wealth of experience to the role having spent his

career in financial services, principally at Close Brothers where he worked for 24 years. During that time, he held

a number of senior management and board positions and was Chief Executive Officer from 2002 until 2009.

Since leaving Close Brothers he has held a number of non-executive directorships in a wide range of sectors,

including the tondon listed retail bunk Virgin Money. Cohn is currently on the boards of the specialist insurer

Hiscox Limited and investment management company Ninety One Plc. Cohn holds an MA in Law from the

University of Oxford and an MBA from INSEAD.

David Young — Non-Executive Director — Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance committee

Premium Credit

David Young joined Premium Credit as a Non-Executive Director in January 2016. Following an early career in

investment banking he became Finance Director, Chief Operating Officer and latterly Chief Executive of a

quoted insurance broking group. Since 1999, he has specialised in being a Non-Executive Director of businesses

in the insurance, consumer finance and investment sectors, particularly regulated businesses and those owned

by private equity. He is also a Non-Executive Director and Audit Committee chair of Watchstone Group Plc, Key

Group, 7im and other private companies. David is both a Chartered Accountant and a Chartered Tax Adviser

Simon Moron — Non-Executive Director

Premium Credit

Simon Moran was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Premium Credit Limited in 2019. He joined Premium

Credit in 1998 as Sales & Marketing Director, hefore being appointed Chief Sales & Marketing Offcer in 2005.

Previously, Simon was Sales & Marketing Director of Transamerica nsurance Finance Company (TIFCO),

establishing the n;odel for commercial premium finance in the UK.

Peter Catterall — Investor Director

Premium Credit

Peter Catterall joined Cinven Partners LLP (‘Cinven’) in 199] and is a partner and a member of the UK and Ireland

regional teany He has been involved in numerous transactions at Cinven, including with Partnership Assurance

Group plc, Guardian Financial Services, Avolon Aerosoace Leasing Limited and The Gondola Group Limited. Peter

has a degree in Chemistry from Exeter University.
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Chairman’s introduction to our Governance principles and framework

Premium Credit has a rooust framework and established principles that are a:igned with tne highest standards

of corporate governance. We keep abreast of the latest trends, guidance and research as part of ow progressive

governance approach.

The Board, and its Committees, play a key role in provding the necessary direction, challenge and support to

the business and ensurng that a culture of good governance exists throughout the Group

We have a kncwledgeabie, engaged and committed Boaro, which operates with openness and honesty. Boaro

members are expected to lead by examp’e and demonstrate the highest standards of propriety, diligence and

accountablity. I’m satisfied that our Directors meet these requirements, and that they have the necessary

experience and indepenoence to oversee and challenge management where appropriate.

Due to the nature of our industry, the Board has a keen eye on business conduct and treating the customer fairly

and properly. Beyond that, we recognise our responsibilities to all our stakeholders and the importance strong

stakeholder engagement plays in the delivery of our purpose and strategy.

Ourfocusin 2020

The Board’s focus for much of this year has been on the COVID-19 crisis. In response to this constantly changing

situation, our activity increased to ensure appropriate oversight and control. The Board held weekly meetings

and worked closely with the Executive team (the ‘Executive Committee’) to ensure that all actions taken

prioritised the safety of ourcolleagues, and were aligned to the Group’s purpose, strategic objectives and values.

The increased intensity and pace of Board activity this year demonstrated the effectiveness of our governance

framework and our commitment to safeguarding and promoting the long-term success of the business for all

stakeholders.

To ensure strong and robust corporate governance remains at the heart of everything we do, we conducted an

effectiveness review of our Board and governance a’rangemer’ts for this first time this year. This internal Boa’d

evauation process will become an annual undertaking and the results wil, be presented to the Board.

Cohn Keogh

Chairman, Premijm Credit
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Our Corporate Governance

The Board has overall responsibility for setting the strategic direction of the business. It has a formal schedule

of matters reserved for its consideration and delegates all others to the CEO and the Executive Committee, It

has created two sub-committees to satisfy itself on the integrity of financial reporting, that financial controls

and systems of risk management are robust, support effective corporate governance, and discharge the wider

range of responsibilities.

Board of Oirectors

*h r
Audit, Risk and• Remuneration

Compliance• CommitteeCommittee

The Chief Executive Officer has established the Executive Committee and its sub-committees to assist in the

management of the business, and to implement its strategic aims in an effective and controlled way. The

Executive Committee provides general executive management of the business and facilitates cross-functional

communication and liaison. The relevant Executive Committee member is accountable to the CEO and the Board

for managing performance, the identification and mitigation of risk, and forthe Group’s strategy, long-term plan

and annual budgets.

The structure of the sub-committees reporting to the Executive Committee is illustrated below, and further

detail on each sub-committee can be found on page 52.

Executive committee lExCol

I I I

P -

Executive Risk Commercial {Ztegic Investment Asset & Liability I Ireland Executive
committee Committee Committee Committee IALCO) Committee
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The Board

Premium Credit’s Board meets at least four times during the course of the year and is responsible for

determining the strategy and direction, as well as overseeing business performance.

All Board committees operate within defined terms of reference and sufficient resources are made available to

them to undertake their duties. Directors unable to attend meetings receive the relevant papers and any

comments are reported to the meeting. The Directors have attended several ad hoc meetings during the year in

addition to the regular Board meetings and have contributed to discussions outside the regular meeting

schedule.

In particular, in the course of the first UK and Irish Iockdown starting in March 2020, the Board held weekly

meetings to review the impact on the business as well as a range of stakeholders and take action where

necessary.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

The Committee reviews and recommends financial statements to the Board for approval, monitors accounting

policies and practices for complIance with relevant accounting standards, reviews significant judgements,

assumptions and estimates in the preparation of financial statements, reviews the scope and results of the

annual external audit, maintains a professional relationship with the external auditors and oversees the internal

audit function and the internal audit programme.

It also oversees and challenges the Group’s risk management framework, including its risk appetite, the

monitoring of risk metrics and performance, the recommendation to the Board of any changes to risk appetite

and the assessment of any future risks. The Committee also oversees the arrangements relating to regulatory

compliance.

The Committee comprises David Young (Chair), Maxim Crewe, Anthony Santospirito, Cohn Keogh and Simon

Moran, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors. The Board is satisfied that all Committee members have recent

and relevant financial experience. The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee meets at least four times a year

and has an agreed agenda linked to events in Premium Credit’s financial calendar.

The Chairman normally invites to the meetings Executive Directors, representatives from its outsourced internal

auditors, a partner or representative from the external auditors, as well as specialists attending for specific items

or making presentations.
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Significant matters addressed by the Committee

The Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and is responsible for reviewing, reporting its conclusions and

making recommendations to the Board on a wide range of topics, in particular:

• The programme of audit work and relationship with the external auditors including auditors’

independence;

• Review of the financial statements;

• The internal audit programme and the results of internal audit reviews;

• Areas of significant accounting Judgenlent; -

• Compliance with legislation, regulatIon and internal policy;

• The risk management framework deployed;

• The risk appetite;

• The lending portfolio ad associated credit poiicy;

• Management of assets and liabIlities, including liquidity and funding;

• The monitoring of liquidity, funding and loan covenant compliance;

• General controls over IT and other systems;

• Matters arising out o’ Premium Credit’s operations; ano

• Premium Credit’s ethica and business standards.

The Committee has paid particuIa attention during the year to:

• The credit quality of the loan book and the appropriate level of IFRS9 provision at year end;

• The ability of the Group to withstand, detect and recover from threats to the security of information it
holds;

• Fraud and general financial crime risk, as well as comp:iance with the General Data Protection Regulation,
particularly in the context of new working from home practices; and

• Proactive risk nianagement through controls and risk registers.

Internal audit

The Committee considers and approves the remit and scope of this outsourced function and ensures that

adequate resources and appropriate access to information are provded. The Committee considers the findings

from completed internal audit reviews, and monitors progress against agreed actions arising from previous

audits. During the year, the Committee considered and approved the Internal Audit plan based upon an

assessment of key risks Twelve audits were completed during the year.

External audit

The Committee is responsible for assessing the independence and effectiveness of the external auditors and

making recommendations to the Board on reappointment. The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have

indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they be reappointed will be proposed at

the annual general meeting.
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Whistleblowing

The Group has an established ‘ramework wbmc’t erables employees to speak in confidence to report tems of

concern ensuring that no employee rnakng such disclosure will suffer any consequent disadvantage. The Chair

of the Audit, Risk aid Co.mpiance Committee has utimate resporsibity for the wbistleblcwing framework.

Risk management

Risk-taking san inherent nartof anyfinance organisatron and as a business Premium Credit aimsto make profits

by taking risks in a controlied manner. The Board has overall responsbility for determining Premium Credit’s

strategy and r&ated risk appetite.

Risk rr anagement is a core aspect of the Group’s management, both at strategic and ope’ational Ieves, Tne

overall objective is to provide an enterprise-wide view of risk management, such that Premium Credit identities,

measures, monitors, manages and reports all risks that could influence the Group in achieving its strategic

objectives.

To support this, the Group has established a risk management framework and a formal governance structure to

identify, monitor, manage and report on risks across its operalions. The risk management framework is overseen

by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee on behalf of the Board.

Our risk managementframework, and the principal risks and mitigants, can be found on page 23 onwards,

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee reviews the Group’s remuneration policy and makes recommendations to the

Board on the remuneration of Executive Committee members. It also sets and monitors performance criteria

for all incentive schemes. In addition to Directors’ remuneration, the Committee oversees any major changes to

employee benefit schemes,

The Consinittee comprises Cohn Keogh (Chair), Peter Catterall, l’iiaxim Crewe and David Young, all of whom are

Non-Executive Orectors. It meets twice during the year and has an agreed agenda Irked to the events in the

Group’s financial calendar.

Signiticant matters addressed by the Committee

The Committee consdered a number of topics, in particular:

• The Group’s overall objectives and allocation o’ the Executive Comm.ttee’s ndivioual annual objectives
and targets;

• The potential total bonus awards for the Annua Incentive P,an and Executive Incentive Plan, based on
the achievement of annual objectives and targets, notably in terms of EBiTDA;

• The review and approval of Executive, Senior Management and Sales team incen:ive schemes;

• The review of the Group’s overall remuneration policy, reward and recognition schemes, Equity
allocations and other reward matters.
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Executive Committee
Experts in consumerfinance, insurance, technoIog and regulation

Premium Credit benefits from an experienced management team with a through-the-cycle track record. The

particular areas of expertise of each executive are highlighted with the following icons

C: Consumer finance

I: Insurance

T: Technology

R: Regulation

F: Funding

- —

Tara Waite — Chief Executive Officer

CIR

See the Board of Directors on page 43 for their biography

Andrew Chapman — Chief Financial Officer

CRF

See the Board of Directors on page 43 for their biography

Josie Pileio — Chief Operations and People Officer

T

Josie Pileio joined Premium Credit in June 2019 and is strategically contributing to the achievement of

commercial strategies through the development and implei-nentation of effective people solutions. Josie brings

extensive international experience and knowledge of strategic HR and business transformation gained over 20

years working in complex, fast paced and multi-site international organisations mainly within the retail sector,

including Office Shoes, Target Australia and its APAC sourcing & supply chain division, and C&A Europe.

Owen Thomas — Chief Soles & Marketing Officer

Owen Thomas joined Premium Credit in June 2019 as Chief Sales & Marketing Officer. His previous role was at

RSA, where he led the strategy and engagement for global broker relationships worldwide, marketing and

strategic account management across UK commercial lines and sales & distribution for the Global Risk Solutions

P&L.

Jon Howells — Chief Commercial Officer IPF

Cl

Jon Howells joined Premium Credit in September 2019 as Chief Commercial Officer, His previous role was at

Close Brothers Premium Finance, where he was responsible for growth and strategy as the Commercial Director.

Jon brings with him a wealth of broking knowledge gained from senior positions at Hastings Direct, Premium

Choice and Swinton.
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Roger Brown — Chief Commercial Officer St

C

Roger Brown was promoted to Chief Commercial Officer ri July 2Q19, from his previous role of Comme’cial

Director in May 2Q18, following 6 years as Head of New Markets He has over 25 years’ exper.ence in insurance

premium ‘inance and broking. Prior to joining Premium Credit, Roger worked for Capita where he was Finance

Director for its General Insurance Division. Roger is a Feliow of the CGMA and has a oackground in fast growth

innovative businesses. He has a strong history of achieving growth and supporting business start-ups in both

broking and premium Enance

Duncan Gray — Chief information Officer

CT

Duncan Gray joined Premium Credit from SCA Marketplace plc in December 2017 to lead the transformation of

our digital journey and enhanced capabilities for our partners and customers. Duncan is also tasked with

maintaining the high availability of the IT service to our customers and enhancing the security and resilience of

our infrastructure. Duncan was ClO and part of the leadership team at BCA during its transition from private

equity ownership to floatation on the London Stock Exchange

James Wilson — Chief Risk Officer

CR

James Wilson joined Premium Credit in October 2019 from TD Wealth International to lead our robust approach

to risk, helping customers to flourish within our industry’s legal and regulatory structure. James brings extensive

regulatory and risk experience and has operated at a senior level within various financial services organisations

over the last 30 years.
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Executive Committee’s sub-committees
The Executive Committee has a number of sub-committees at its disposal to assist in the management of the

business, and to implement its strategic aims in an effective and controlled way.

Executive Risk Committee

The Executive Risk Committee comprises all of the Executive Committee n-embers and is attended by heads of

the relevant functions It is chaired by the Chef Risk Officer. The Committee is responsible for:

• overseeing and monitoring operational risk management and compiiance processes;

• monitoring of counterparty and conduct risk presented by any trading partner of the Group and

monitors conduct risk in relation to the achievement of fair outcomes for customers;

• monitoring credit risk exposure and the management of overdue and impaired credit accounts;

• making recommendations for credit risk appetite and continuously monitoring performance against

guardrails;

• considering key operational risk information such as loss events, ererging risks and control failures;

• overseeing the maintenance of effective systems and controls to meet regulatory and conduct

obligations, and for countering the risk posed to the Group by financial criminals; and

• reviewing the quality, adequacy, resources, scope and nature of the compliance function, including the

annual Compliance Monitoring Plan.

Commercial Committee

The Commercial Committee is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. The Committee has responsibility for the

approval of ad hoc and significant size transactions falling outside of individual Exco business me policy but

within Directors’ approval limits. The Committee also has the responsibility for setting the pricing model input

metrics, approval of new producers £5 million+ and cost recovery fee exceptions.

Strategic Investment Committee

The Strategic Investment Committee is chaired by the Chief Information Officer and is responsible for prioritising

and monitoring the progress of the annual IT plan. The Committee also reviews monthly updates on the progress

of all IT and Change portfolio projects.

Asset and Liability Committee (‘ALcO’)

The ALCO is chaired by the Chief Finanoal Officer. Its principal purpose is to identify, measure, control, monitor

arid revew the financial risk management of the Group’s balance sheet. It is responsible for monitoring a1

aspects of liquid’ty risk, funding risk and market rsks, as well as the treasury policy and contro: frameworic

Ireland Executive Committee

The Ireland Executive Committee is chaired by the Managing Director (Ireland) (Ger Shannon). The Committee

is responsible for monitoring the saies, financial and operational performance of the Irish business.
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Directors’ report
The Directors of Mizzen Mezzco Limited (the Group’) present their annual report and financial statements for

the year ended 31 December 2020.

Business review, results and dividends

The principal activity of the Group is the financing of insurance premiums and other services in the UK and

Ireland. The Company is incorporated in England & Wales and domiciled in the United Kingdom, with registration

number 08179245. The Group also operates through a branch in the Republic of Ireland.

Our business model is outlined on page 7. The financial review on pages 28 to 31 and the KPIs on page 17 contain

highlights of the results for the year.

The Chief Executive Officer’s review on page 9 and the strategy on page 14 provide details of our future outlook.

The Group generated a profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2020 of £29.0 million, and no dividend

was paid for that year. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for this year.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties, and their mitigants, are described on pages 23 to 27.

Going concern

The Group’s Securitisation Programme comprises two series of public asset-backed securities, one issued in

November 2017forE283.5 million with a reinvestment period end-date of June 2021, and one issued in October

2020 for £378 million with a reinvestment period end-date of September 2022, as well as a £826 million variable

funding notes facility (the ‘VFN’) with a reinvestment period end-date of October 2022.

In June 2020 certain performance triggers were amended both on the VFN Facility and the then-outstanding

asset-backed issues, with the consent of the yEN Facility funders and the rating agencies. The amendments were

intended to grant structural flexibility in the context of COVID-19, in order to accommodate potential

fluctuations in performance.

The existing structure and changes ensure that the business maintains a diversified and stable funding structure

which reduces its liquidity risk.

In order to assess the appropriateness of the going concern basis the Directors considered the Company and

Group’s financial position, the cash flow requirements laid out in its forecasts for a period of 12 months from

the date of approval of these financial statements, its access to funding, the assumptions underlying the

forecasts and the potential risks and uncertainty affecting them. This included taking into account the risks

associated with the withdrawal of the United Kingdom (UK) from the European Union (EU), and the subsequent

trade and cooperation agreement between the UK and the EU, as well as those associated with the ongoing

COVID-19 pandemic. The Company and Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible

changes in trading performance, including a severe but plausible downside scenario, show that the Company

and Group will be able to operate within the level of its current working capital facilities.

Although the Group is in a negative equity position, the Directors have received confirmation of support for the

company for at least 12 months from the signing of the financial statements. The Directors have reviewed the

forecasts of the Group and of the wider group taking into consideration longer-term commitments and the

timings of future dividend payments and repayments of interest on external debt. Having reviewed these

forecasts, and taken into account the forecast covenant compliance position of the wider Pomegranate Topco

Limited group (pursuant to dependent loans across the Group), the Directors have made an assessment of the
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Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that it has sufficient resources to Continue in

business for the foreseeable future, and for a period of at least 12 months from the signing of the financial

statements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company

and Groups ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared

on the going concern basis.

Directors

The Directors who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were as
follows:

• Tara Waite
• Andrew Chapman
• Anthony Santospirito

Directors’ indemnity and liability insurance

As permitted by the Aqicles of Association, the Directors have the benefit ofan indemnity, which is a qualifying

third-party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indeninty was in
force throughout the last finar.cial year and is currently still in force. The Group also purchased and maintained

throughout the financial year Directors and Officers’ liability insuraflce in respect of itself and its Directors.

Stakeholder relationships and employee engagement

The Group is committed to ensuring it maintains strong relationshipswith all stakeholders (includingemployees)

and actively engages with theni on an ongoing basis. Further detaEls are provided in our Stakeholders’ relations
section (page 32) and in our people and culture section (page 38).

Human rights and Modern Slavery Act

We respect all human rights and in conducting our business aim to act ethically and with integrity in all that we

do. We operate in the UK and Ireland, as such, are subject to the European Convention on Human Rights and
the UK Human Rights Act 199&

We support the objective of the Modern SlaveryAct 2015 and are committed to ensuring thatthere is no modern

slaveryor human trafficking:n oursupply chains orin any partof the business. We ac:’vely engage with suppliers

to ensure that compliance with modern slavery legislation is achieved. \AJe have not ncurred ar.y fines or

prosecutions in respect of non-compliance, and there have been no alleged breaches of the Modern Slavery Act
dur-ng 2020.

The Group’s statement on modern slavery is published on its website at svww.oremumcred:, com.

Health and safety policy

The Groups health and safety policy is designed to maintain a healthy and safe working environment, and to
ensure the health, safety and wellbeing of all its employees, contractors, visitors to its premises, as well as those

impacted by its operations in public areas. The Health and Safety Policy is regularly reviewed and updated as
required. The Chief Operations and People Officer ensures the proactive approach to safety and wellbeing in the
workplace.

Aside from skeleton staff at our headquarters, we have been operating remotely since mid-March 202D. We
have provided additional health and safety training in relation to home-working, and have undertaken home
workstation assessments to ensure the wellbeing ol our colleagues in this new environment.

There were no significant incidents in the workplace during 2D20.
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Environmental, social and governance matters

We are committed to conducting our business in a manner that protects the environment. This means ensuring

that all relevant environmental legislation and regulatiors are met and reducing consumption of these

resources. For further details including SECR reporting see page 41.

Employee relations

The Group seeks to operate as a responsible employer and has adopted corporate values to promote standards

designed to help employees in their conduct with one another and business relationships. Pohcies in place

support equal oppcrtun:ties and diversity, health and safety, and anti-bribery and corruption,

The Group’s policy in respect of employment, training, career development and promotion of disabled persons

can be found on page 39.

It is the Group’s policyto cond’jct business in an honest open and ethical manner A zero-tolerance approach is

taken to br-bery anc cor’uption, harassrent, bullying and discrimination.

The Group operates competitive reward and benefit crogrammes. offers appropriate training and persona:

dev&opment pmgrammes, and encourages the recognition of outstand;ng performance. The Group embraces

continuousdevelop”rentofindividualsand teams and provdes schemesto enable ali staff to participate directly

in the success of the Group.

The Group has an established whistleblowing framework which enables employees to raise issues when they

feel it is appropriate, and which ensures that no employee making such disclosure will suffer any consequent

disadvantage. There were no whistleb!owirg incidents during the year 2020.

Research and development
The Group develops new products and senjices, and undertakes research and development on its IT systems to

enhance its service offerings. Disclosure of the expenditure and capitalisation of deve.opment costs in the year

nay be found in rote [12] to the financial statements.

Supplier payment policy

The Group agrees appropriate terms and conditions indivioually with its suppiers. It seeks to abide by these

terms orovided that the suppHer has also done so.

Donations

During the year the Group donated £12,076 (2019; £11,269) to charitable causes.

Post balance sheet events

In April 2D21 the Group issued a new series of public asset backed securities to its Securitisation Programme for

£300.0 million with a reinvestment period end-date of October 2023.

There were no other post balance sheet events.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with

applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the

directors have prepared the group financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards

in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give

a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company and of the profit or loss of the group for

that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of

the Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and

explained in the financral statements;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

• preoare the f:nancial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that

the group and company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking

‘easonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other rreguarities.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accountHg records that are sufficient to show and explain

the group’s a”d company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position

of the group and company and enabe them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies

Act 2006.

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

• so far as the d,rector is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s and

company’s auditors are unaware; and

• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themseves

aware of any relevant audit information and to estabush that the group’s and company’s auditors are

aware of that information,

This report was approved by the Board on 26 April 2021 and signed on its behalf by

rara Wafte

Director
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Independent auditors report to the 

members of Mizzen Mezzco Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

• Mizzen Mezzco Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the "financial

statements") give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 

31 December 2020 and of the group's profit and the group's cash flows for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting

standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

• the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101

"Reduced Disclosure Framework", and applicable law); and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act

2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the 

"Annual Report"), which comprise: the Consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December 2020; the 

Consolidated income statement and Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated 

statement of cash flows, and the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity for the year then 

ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting 

policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of 

the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

Audit scope 

• Premium Credit Limited was the only component in scope for the group audit and was audited to an overall

materiality of £1,800,000. Where there were material external balances in other entities these were audited

to the same materiality.
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Key audit matters

• Revenue recognition Effective Interest Rate (group)

• Measurement of listed debt on balance sheet (group)
• Recoverability of Amounts owed by Group undertakings (group and parent)

• Determination of expected credit losses on loans to customers (group)

• Consideration on the impact of COVID-lY (group and parent)

Materiality

• Overall group materiality: £1,300,000 (2019: £1,607,250) based on 2.5% of earnings before interest, tax,

depreciation and amortisation.

• Overall company materiality: £610,000 (2019: £601,000) based on total assets of 1%.

• Performance materiality: £1,350,000 (group) and £457,500 (company).

Thescopeofouraudit -

As part of designing our audit we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the

financial statements.

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, includingfraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures

in line with our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

section, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our

procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance

with laws and regulations related to local employment laws, Listing Rules, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA)

regulatory requirements, and tax regulation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have

a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct

impact on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated

management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including

the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate

journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit

procedures performed by the engagement team included:

• Discussions with management, both within and outside of the finance department, including consideration

of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation and fraud;

• Review of the disclosures in the Annual Report and Financial Statements against the specific legal

requirements;
• Performing risk based testing on manual journal entry postings;

• Review of minutes of director meetings occurring during the year;

• Challenge of assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates;

and

• Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above, We are less likely to become aware of

instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions

reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is

higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by,

for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in

the audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of

material mrsstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the

greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts

of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon,

were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

This is rot a complete list of al risks identiied by our audi.

Recoverability of Amounts owed by Group unde’iakings and Determination of expected credit losses on loans

to customers are new key audit matters this year. Otherwise, the key audit matters below are consistent with

last year.

Revenue recognition - Effective Interest Rote (group)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Interest income on loans and advances made by the

Group is recognised using the effective interest rate

(“EIR’) method, in line with IFRS 9 - Financial

We assessed whether the EIR calculation was in

accordance with IFRS 9—Financial :nstruments

Instruments. Any account fees and direct transaction

costs that form an integral part of the yield are included

in the EIR. G’ven the magnitude of nterest income,

managements’ application of EIR creates a higher risk of

material msstatemert due to error or fraud.

We audited the interest income and the effective

interest rate model by testing the associated revenue

controls, and re-performing the calculations for a

sample of loans and advances, agreeing them to loan

agreements and testing tie effect:ve interest rate

Refer to notes 2)c) and 3(b) of the financial statements

for the d;rectors’ disclosures of the related accounting

policies and associated f:nancial statement note.

calcuations.

Measc,,ement of listed debt on balonce sheer (group)

Through the procedures performed above, we have

determined that the effect.ve interest rate model used

and the assumpt:ons management have made are

appropriate and in accordance with IFRS 9— Financial

Instruments.

In 201], the Group hsted two loan notes totalIng

£600,000,000 on the Irish StocK Exchange. fh:s was in

addition to a £200,000,000 loan note listed on the Irish

Stock Exchange in 2014 (with £10,600,000 of the initial

loan subsequently redeemed in 2015). n 2020, the

Group listed one additional loan note of £400,000,000

on the Irish Stock Exchange, and redeemed two notes of

£300,000,000 and £189,400,000 respectively from the

Irish Stock Exchange.

We assessed whether the measurement of the loan

notes was in accordance wth IFRS 9 — Financial

Instruments.

We undertook the following procedures to test the

measurement of the loan notes:

The loan notes are accounted for at amortised cost using

the effective interest rate method and are reduced by

any capital redemptions occurring during the year. We

therefore focused our testing on the year end

measurement of the loan notes.

- Confirmed the contractual amounts outstanding at
the year-end to confirmation from the issuing bank
and Irish Stock Exchange records.

- Confirmed loan amounts redeemed in the year to
Irish Stock Exchange records.

- Confirnied the effective interest rate method used
within the arnortised cost calculation.

- Tested the interest expense through recalculation
and reference to contractual agreement.

Through the procedures detailed above, we have

determined that the measurement of the listed debt

was in accordance with IFRS 9— Financial Instruments.

Refer to note 2(h) and 20 of the financial statements for

the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting

policies and associated financial statement note.
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Detennination of expected credit losses on loans to

customers (group)

Determining expected Credit losses (‘ECL’) involves

management judgement and is subject to a high degree

of estimation uncertainty, both of which have

significanUy increased as a result of the COVID-19

pandemic.

A model is used by management to collectively assess

and determine expected credit losses on loans and

advances which are classified as live (defined by

management as amounts with no significant increase in

credit risk); in arrears (defined by management as

amounts with a significant increase in credit risk); or

terminated (defined by management as in default or

otherwise credit impaired).

For the year ended 31 December 2020 managements

expected credit loss provision includes additional

judgement to capture the estimated forward-looking

economic impact of CDVID-19, in the form of an

economic overlay. This is judgemental as the level of

Government support provided within 2020 resulted in

altered repayment and termination profiles of the loans

written by the Group.

Refer to note 2(i), 3(a) and 15 of the financial statements

for the directors’ disclosures of the related accounting

policies and associated financial statement note.

Consideration on the impoct of COVID-19 (group and

parent)

We understood and critically assessed the
appropriateness of management’s impairment model

(including management’s definitions of default and a

significant increase in credit risk) including how

management considered the impact of COVID-19 in its

determination of the ECL provision.

We tested the completeness and accuracy of key data

inputs, that are used by management in the calculation

of the ECL allowances.

We performed testing over the measurement of the

economic overlay recorded by management to account

for the impact of COVID-19. We assessed the

appropriateness of methodologies used to determine

and quantify the overlay, including the reasonableness

of key assumptions.

Based on the evidence obtained, we concluded thatthe

methodologies, modelled assumptions, management

judgements, the data used and collective and
individually assessed expected credit losses to be

appropriate and in accordance with the requirements

of IFRS 9.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recoverability of Amounts owed by Group undertakings

(group and parent)

The group and company has receivable balances from We have evaluated management’s assessment of

group companies at the balance sheet date which Amounts owed by Group undertakings impairment,

should be reviewed at least annually for indicators of which includes verifying the liquidity available to the

impairment. The balances are unsecured and are Group.

receivable in October 2022 or on demand within three Based on the work performed above, we concurred
business days of written notice from the lender, with the directors that no impairment was required.

The Directors’ believe that the group companies have

access to sufficient liquid funds, that can be utilised as

and when required.

Further information is set out in note 2W) and note 16

to the financial statements.
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The drectors have assessed the impact of CDVID-19 on

the Group and Company financial statements. COVID-19

has created sign’icant economic uncertainty and this

increases the risk over the directors’ use of the going

concern basis of preparatior’.

The directors’ assessment of the Group’s and

Company’s going concern status is supported by

estimates over future traoing performance and

associated cash flows, wtn COV!D-19 resulting in

greater uncertainty in estimating future revenues,

profits and cash flows.

Refer to Note 2 {b) of the financial statements for the

directors’ going concern assessment and disclosure of

the related accounting policy.

How we tailored the audit scope

company Number: 08179245

We considered the directors’ assessment of the impact

of COV.D19 on the Group and Company financial

statements.

We performed the following procedures:

- tested the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow
forecast model and other supporting documents;

- assessed the reasonableness of key assumptons
supporting the cash flow forecasts including
revenue and cost orojections, and mitigating cost
actions identified by the directors

- evaluated forecast revenues by reference to
current and historical perfrnmance, sensitised to
ref:ect different downside scenahos as a
consequence of the potential future impact of
CDVID-19 on the Group’s operations;

- assessed the impact of financial obligations arising
from existing contractual relationships to ensure
that these were appropriately reflected in the cash
flow forecasts;

- read and evaluated the Group’s existing facility
agreements to ensure that there were no
conditions present that would result in the
facilities being withdrawn within a 12 month
period of the approval of the financial statements;

- evaluated the group’s forecast performance
against contractual financial trigger events that, if
breached, would prevent the group from
securitising any new assets within their lending
facility; and

- evaluated the group’s forecast financial covenant
compliance based on the above mentioned cash
flow forecasts.

Based on the procedures performed we found that the

directors’ use of the going concern basis in the

p’eparation of the financial statements is reasonable.

We read the disclosures made in the financial

staten,ents in respect of the impact of COyID-19 on the

financial statements and found these to be

appropriate.

We ta,lored the scope of our audit to ensure thet we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on

the financial statements as a wole, taking itltc account the structure of the group and the company, the

accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

The group financial statements are a consolidation of 12 statutory entities, comprising the group’s operating

business, Premium Credit Limited and a number of intermediate holding and finance companies.

The accounting and financial management for all statutory entities is controlled from the UK, so we as the group

engagement team have performed all audit work.
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Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds

for materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit

and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and

disclosures and in evaluating the affect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial

statements as a whoe.

Based on our professional judgement, we determir.ed materiality for the financial statements as a whole as

to:lows:

Financial statements - group Financial statements - company

Ove,iIl materiality £1,800,000 2019: £1,607,250). £610,000 (2019: £601,000).

Flow we determined it 2.5% of earnings before interest, tax, total assets of 1%

depreciation and amortisation

Ratio,ao/e for benchmark Based on the benchmarks used in the As the entity is established as an

applied Annual Report and Financial Statements, investment holding company, it would

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation follow that users may focus thei’

and amortisation is the primary measure attention on the total assets. It is

used by the shareholders in assessing the therefore considered appropriate that

performance of the group, and Is a overall materiality be calculated at 1%

generally accepted auditing benchmark, of total assets.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of

uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance

materiality in determining the scope of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances,

classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality

was 15% of overall materiality, amounting to £1,350,000 for the group financial statements and £457,500 for

the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements,

risk assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the

upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with those charged with governance that we would report to them misstatements identified during

our audit above £90,000 (group audit) (2019: £80,363) and £30,500 (company audit) (2019: £30,070) as well as

misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qual:tativc reasons,

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or

conditions that, ndividualy or collectively, may cast sgnificant doubt on the group’s and the company’s ability

to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financia statements are

authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be preduted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to

the group’s and the company’s abiity to continue as a going concern.
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the

relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements

and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the

financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion

or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to he materially misstated, If we identify an apparent

material inconsistency or n,aterial misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether

there is a material misstatement of thefinancial statements ora material misstatementof the otherinformation.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ report, we also considered whether the disclosures required

by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report

certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

Incur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic

report and Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with the financial statements

and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the

course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the

directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable

framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such

internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
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from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Our audittesting might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using

data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather

than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size

or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the

population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s

website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in

accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving

these opinions, accept orassume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report

is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have

not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Simon Bailey (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
27 April 2021
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2Q20

2020 2019
Notes

€000

Interest income 113,109 114441

Interest expense (15,423) (20366)

Net interest income 5 97,686 94,075

Fee ircome 6 16,902 17,754

Commission expense 7 (3,989) 3,723)

Total income 110,599 108,116

Administrative expenses 8 (60,508) (76,931)

Net noairnent losses on Loans to customers 15 (1,216) 1,103

Operating profit 48,875 32,288

Finar.ce income 37 9

Finance expense 10 (19.928) (14,975)

Profit before taxation 28,984 17,322

Income tax expense 11 (831) (986)

Profit for the financial year 28,153 16,336

The notes on pages 72 to 112 are an integral pail of the financia statements.

Resuts relate to continuing operaUons.

The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Comoanes Act 23C6 from presenting

the pwent company profit and loss account.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019
£‘OOO £000

Profit for the financial year 28,153 16336

Other comprehensive (Ioss)/income

Items thor may subsequently be reclassified to the
profit or loss:

Foreign currency translation gains/)losses) 23 1,831 (1,703)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 1,831 (1,703)

Total comprehensive income for the year 29,984 14,633
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2020

Note 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OOO taco

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 7,291 10,967
Property, plantand equipment 13 2,608 2,892
Right-of-use assets 14 4,938 5,932
Loans to customers 15 2,458 3,580
Prepayments and other receivables 16 289 1,294
Deferred_tax asset 17 389 - 483

Total non-current assets

_____________________

17,983 25,148

Current assets
Loans to customers 15 1,429,839 1,441,869
Prepayments and other receivables 16 9,512 11,565
Corporation tax receivable 1,130 1,141
Cash and cash equivalents 18 124,303

______

85,281

Total current assets 1,564,784 1,539,856

Total assets - — 1,582,767 1,565,004

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Lease obligations 19 4,585 5,169
Borrowings

________

20 1,163,377 1,173,531

Total non-current liabilities

________________

1,167,962 1,178,700

Current liabilities
Lease obligations 19 847 890
Trade and other payables 21 461,504 462,944

Total current liabilities

-

462,351 463,834

Total liabilities

___________________________________

1,630,313 1,642,534

Equity

Called up share capital 22 44,502 44,502
Accumulated losses (94,690) (122,843)
Other reserves - 23 2,642

- -

811

- Total equity
- (47,546) (77,530)

Total liabilities and equity 1,582,767 1,565,004

The financial statements on pages 65 to 71 were approved by the Board on 26 April 2021 and signed on its

behalf by:

Tara Waite,

Director
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2020

Note 3lDec2OZO 31Dec2019

£‘OOO £000

Assets
Non-current assets
Investments 24 44,502 44,502

Prepayments and other receivables 16 16,482 15,611

Total non-current assets 60,984 60,113

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 16 - 28 -

Total current assets - 28

Total assets

_______________________________

60,984 60,141

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 755 753

Total current liabilities 755 - 753

Total liabilities 755 753

Equity
Called up share capital 22 44,502 44,502

Retained earnings 15,727 14,886

Total equity

____________

60,229 59,388

Total liabilities and equity

________ ________

60,984 60,141

The Company made a profit of £0.8 million in the financia’ year (2019: £0.7 million).

The financial statements on pages 65 to 71 were approved by the Board on 26 April 2021 and signed on its

behalf by:

Tara Waite,

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the yeaF ended 31 December 2020

Note Called Up Accumulated Other Total
Share Capital (Losses) Reserves Equity

/1 n come

______

E’UOO £‘OOO ‘000 €‘OOC

At 1 January 2019 44,502 (139,179) 2,514 (92,163)

Profit for the financial yea 16,336 - 16,336

Foreign currency translation -

- (1,703) (1,703)
(gains )/losses

_____________________________________________

Total comprehensive
- 16,336 (1,703) 14,633

income/(loss) for the year

Tronsoctions wirh owners:

D:vidends pad - - - -

At 31 December 2019 and
44502

—- (122,843) -—
- 811 (77,530)

1 January 2020

________ ___________

Profit for the f:nacial year - 23,153 - 28,153

ForeLgn currency translation 23 -

- 1,831 1,831
(gains)/losses

Total comprehenstve
- 28,153 1,831 29,984

ncorrie/(loss) for the year

Tronsocrions with ow/lets:

D;vLdends paid 25 -

At 31 December 2020 44,502 (94,690) 2,642 (47,546)
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 202C

Note Called Up
Share Retained Total

Capital Earnings Equity

________

E’OOO £‘OOO £‘OOC

At 1 January 2019 44,502 14,210 58,712

Profit for the financial year - 676 676

Divdends paid 25 - -

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 44,502 14,886 59,388

Profit for the financial year - 841 841

Dividends paid 25 - - - - - -

At 31 December 2020 44,502 15,727 60,229
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
£‘OOO £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 26 88,144 46,736

Interest paid (30,349) (30525)
Interest pa,d on eases ‘ (277) -

Income tax paid

_________

[725) (477)

Net cash flaws generated from operating activities 56,793 15,734

Cash flows used from investing activities

Purchase of intangible fixed assets 12 (1,953) (4,151)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (594) (215)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,547) (4,367)

Cash flows from financing activities

(Repayments ofl/lncrease in borrowings (7,574) 10,043

Principal eiements of lease payments (528) (881)

Facility fees paid (7,454) (935)

Dividends paid to sharehoiders 25 - -

Net cash flaws (used in)/generated from financing
(15,656) 8,227

activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 38,590 19594

Cash and cash equiva!ents at begnning of year 85,281 66,149

Foregn currency translaticn gains/(losses 432 (462)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 124,303 85,281

The notes on pages 72 to 112 are an .ntegral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

Mizzen Mezzco Limited (the Company’), and its subsidiaries (together the Group’), is a financial services Group

specialising in funding and payment processing solutions. The Company is incorporated in England & Wales and

domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of the registered office is: Ermyn House, Ermyn Way, Leatherhead,

England, KT22 8UX. The Company is a private company limited by shares.

The Group has a branch in the Republic of Ireland.

Details of subsidiaries and Group undertakings are provided in Note 24. These company and consolidated

financial statements comprise both the financial statements of the Company and the Group.

2. Accounting policies

The accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent with those applied in the 2019 Annual

Report and Financial Statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below.

(a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting

Standards (lAS) in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The consolidated financial

statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the fair valuation of

particular financial instruments, to the extent required or permitted under International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) as set out in the relevant accounting policies.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling which is the functional currency of the Group.

The figures shown in the financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepred in accordance with Financial Reporting

Standard 101, ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101). The Company financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the fair valuation of particular financial

instruments, to the extent required or permitted as set out in the relevant accounting policies and in accordance

with the Companies Act 2006.

The Company’s parent undertaking, Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited, was notified of and did not object to the

use of the EU-adopted IFRS disclosure exemptions.

The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of the company

financial statements, in accordance with FRS 101:

• The requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 388, 38C, 38D, 40A, 4DB, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134

to 136 of lAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.

• The requirements of AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows.

• The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of lAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting

Estimates and Errors.

• The requirements of paragraphs 17 and iSA of lAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.
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The requirements in 4524 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into

between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary, which is a party to the

transaction, is wholly owned by such a member.

The requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(ii), 130(fj(iii), 134(d) to 134(f) and 135(c) to 135(e) of

14536 Impairment of Assets, provided that equivalent disclosures are included in the consolidated

financial statements of the group in which the entity is consolidated.

• The requirements of IFAS 7 Financial Instruments. Disclosures

• The repurements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 ard paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118,

119(a to (c), 120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS IS Revenue froni Contracts with Customers.

(b) Going concern

The G’oup’s Securitisaton Programme comprises two series of public asset-backed securities, one ssued in

November 2Ol7for £283.5 mill:on w:th a reinvestment period end-date of June 2021, and one issued in October

2020 ‘orf378 million with a Fe rvestment period end-date of September 2022, as we;l as a £826 million variable

furdng notes facility (the ‘VFN’) with a reinvestment period end-date of October 2022

In June 2020, certain performance tr;ggers were amended both on the VFN Facility and the then-outstanding

asset-backed ,ssues, with the consertof theVN Facility funders and the ratingagencies. The amendments were

intended to grant structural flexibility in the context of COVID-19, in order to accommodate potential

fluctuations in performance

The existing structure and changes ensure that the business n,antains a diversified and stable funding structure

whcn -educes its liquidity risk.

In order to assess the appropriateness of the going concern basis the Directors considered the Company and

Group’s ‘inancial positior,: he cash ‘low requirenients laid out in its forecasts f0r a period of 12 months from

the date of approval of these financaI statements, its access to funding, the assumptions underlying the

forecasts and the potential risis and uncertainty affecting tnem. This included takng nto account the risks

associated with the withdrawal of the United Kingdom (UK) from the European Union (EJ), and the subsequent

trade and cooperaton agreement between the UK and the EU, as weil as those assoc,ated with the ongoing

COVID-19 pandem-c.The Cosany and Group’s forecasts and projections, taking accountof reasonably possible

changes in traoing performance, inc uding a severe but p ausible downside scenario, show that the Company

and Group will be able to operate within the level of its current working capital facilities.

Although the Group is in a negative equity position, the Directors have received confirmation of support for the

company for at least 12 months from the signing ot the financial statements, The Directors have reviewed the

forecasts of the Group and of the wider group taking into consideration longer-term commitments and the

timings of future dividend payments and repayments of interest on external debt- Having reviewed these

forecasts, and taken into account the forecast covenant compliance position of the wider Pomegranate Topco

Limited group (pursuant to dependent loans across the Group), the Directors have made an assessment of the

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that it has sufficient resources to continue in

business for the foreseeable future, and for a period of at least 12 months from the signing of the financial

statements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company

and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared

on the going concern basis.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the Company and all

consolidated subsidiaries, including the securitisation SPVs.

Investment in Group undertakings

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group determines the financial and business policies and is able to exercise

control over it in order to benefit from its activities.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus incidental expenses less any provision for

impairment in the company financial statements. Impairment reviews are performed annually by the Directors

or where there has been an indication of potential impairment.

The results of subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control commences until the date that

control ceases. Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from

intragroup transactions, are eliminated upon consolidation.

Special Purpose Vehicles

The Group enters into securitisation transactions in which it assigns receivables to a Special Purpose Vehicles

(SPV) that supports the issuance of securities backed by the cash flows from the securitised receivables. Although

none of the equity of the Spy is owned by the Group, the nature of these entities, which are in substance

controlled by the Group, mean that the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the

receivables. As such the SPy is consolidated on a line-by-line basis in the Group consolidated financial

statements. (See note 23 for details).

(c) Net interest income recognition

Financial instruments which are disclosed as loans and advances to customers include non-derivative financial

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement

at historical cost, they are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR)

method, less allowance for any expected credit loss (ECL). Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into

account fees receivable that are an integral part of the instruments yield, early redemption fees and transaction

costs. The interest income calculated using this method is included in interest and similar income in the income

statement. The ECI. is recognised in the income statement in impairment losses on loans and advances to

customers.

(d) Fee and commission income recognition

Fees in respect of services are recognised when the service to the customer has been provided. The

arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the service is

rendered. The price is fixed and always determinable. The Group generates fees from the financing of insurance

policies and other instalment services underwritten ordelivered bythird party insurers or suppliers. This is based

on fee rates that are independent of the profitability of the underlying insurance policies or fee plan.

Administration and facility fees are initially measured at historical cost; they are subsequently measured at

aniortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.
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(e) Taxation

Current tax is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have

been enacted or substantively enacted as at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its

branches operate and generate taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed atthe balance

sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more,
or a right to pay lessor to receive more tax in the future, with the following exception:

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not

that there will be sufficient taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences

can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance

sheet date.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate applicable at the date of the transaction. All monetary

assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Pounds Sterling at rates of exchange at

the end of the financial year. Differences between the translated transactions and subsequent cash settlements,
or related translated balances, are recognised in the income statement.

The balance sheets for foreign operations are consolidated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet

date. The income statement is consolidated usingthe average rate for the year. The exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of opening net assets are taken directly to reserves.

The Group’s foreign operations may have different functional currencies. Prior to consolidation the assets and
liabilities of non-Sterling operations are translated atthe period end exchange rate and items of income, expense
and other comprehensive income are translated into Sterling at the rate on the date of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations are included in the foreign currency

translation reserve within equity.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits held at call with banks.

(h) Financial instruments

IFRS 9 Firionciol Instruments has three core areas: Classification and Measurement; Hedge Accounting; and
Impairment.

Financial assets

Financial assets comprise cash and bank balances, loans to customers and other receivables.
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Classification and measurement

Financial assets are Classified into one of three measurement Categories:

(a) amortised cost;

(b) fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or

(c) fair value through profit or loss (FVPI).

Classification is based on the objeCtives of the Group’s business model for managing its financial assets and the

contractual cash flow charactei istics of the instruments.

(a) ,4rnartised cost

Financial assets that are held to collect contractual cash flows and where contractual terms comprise solely

payments of principal and interest (SPPI) are classified at amortised cost. This category includes Group’s loan

porr’olios and cash and bank balances within a ‘hold to collect’ business model.

cinancial assets at amortised cost are initialiy recognised at fair value, ncluding direct and incremental

tansaction costs. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate methodology.

The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected crecit loss allowance. Interest ‘ncome is

‘ncluded in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest rate methodology.

(b) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows

and selling financial assets, and where contractual terms ccmprise solely payments o’ principal and interest are

classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value, includ’ng direct and incremental transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement is at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in other comprehensive

income, with the exception of irnparmentgains or losses, interest incomeand foreign exchangegains and losses

on the instruments amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income from these financial

assets is inciuded in ‘interest income’ using the effective interest rate methodology.

Dn derecognit;on of a financial asset, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from

equity to profit or loss and recognised in ‘Fair value gains/losses on financiaI instruments.

(ci Fair value through profit or loss (FvTPL)

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or F’/DCi are measured at FVTPL on initial recognition

and at each reporting date

Any gain or loss on an asset that is subsequently measured at FVTPL, and is not part of a hedging relationship, is

recognised in profit or loss and presented in the profit or loss statement within ‘Fair value gains/losses on

financial instruments.

Interest income from these financial assets is included separately in ‘Net Interest Income’.
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Financial liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. After initial

recognition, interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised costs with any difference between cost and

redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective

interest basis. The Group does not hold any financial liabilities classified as held for trading.

Fees pardon the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that

it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent that there is no evidence that it

is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity

services and amortised over the period of the facilty to which t relates.

(I) Impairment of financial assets (Expected Credit Loss)

The Group assesses all fnancial assets a—d off-balance sheet commitments for impairment at each reporting

date. For the Group, this is primarily loans to customers. Under IrRS 9 a ‘three-stage’ model for calcuating

Expected Credit Losses (ECL) is used, and is based on changes in credit quality since iritial recognition as

summarised below:

• Stage 1: W’en a financial asset is first recognised it is assigned to Stage 1. ;f there is no ‘significant

increase in credit risk’ frn’’ initial ecognitro’i the ‘inancial asset remains in Stage 1 Stage 1 also

includesfinancialassetswhere the credit risk has improved, and thefinancial asset has been reclassified

backfrom Stage 2-For financial assets in Stage 1 a ‘12-month ECL’ is recognised

• Stage 2: When a financial asset shows a ‘significant increase in credit risk’ from initial recognition it is

moved to Stage 2. Stage 2 also includes financial assets where the credit risk has improved, and the

financ:a’ asset has been reclass.fied back from Stage 3-For financial assets in Stage 2 a ‘l’fetime ECL’ is

recognised.

• Stage 3: When there is objective evidence of imparment and the financial asset is in default, or

otherwise credit impaired, it is moved to Stage 3, For financial assets in Stage 3 a ‘lifetime ECL’ is

recognised,

In ‘eiat’on to the above:

• ‘Lifetime ECU is defined as ECL that result from all sossible defaut events over the expected life 01 a

financa’ instrument,

• ‘12’month ECU is defined as the portion. of the lifetime ECL that will result if a defau It occurs in the

12 months after the reporting date, weighted by the probability of that default occurring.

On an ongoing basis the Group assesses whether there has been a change in credit quality and where necessary

financial assets are then moved through the stages accordingly as outlined below,
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Significant increase in credit risk assessment— movement to Stage?:

A ‘significant increase in credit risk’ (51CR) is not a defined term, and is determined by Management, based on

their experience and judgement. Most Group’s loans are short term agreements of less than 12 months. Based

on its historical experience of performance of those loans and due to its short-term exposure, the Group applies

a conservative approach for measuring 51CR, a principle called ‘one day one penny overdue’ which means a loan

account which is past due by one day is an indicator of 51CR. Since the majority of Group’s customers pay by

direct debit and the loans are only for a short period, it believes that for a customer to miss a payment or to be

in arrears, provides a strong indication of 51CR. This excludes cases where the payment is delayed due to

technical reasons. Where the Group has the right of automatic recovery from the intermediary partner

(‘recourse loans’), these loans remain in Stage 1 irrespective of how many days the loan is past due, the credit

risk of the intermediary also being risk assessed,

Default — movement to Stage 3:

A financial asset will only be considered credit impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment, including
financial assets that are defaulted or 90 days past due. Where a financial asset is classified as credit impaired it
will be moved into Stage 3.

Advances are considered to be defaulted where the borrower is in breach of contract, is bankrupt, or
experiences other significant financial difficulties which are expected to have a detrimental impact on their
ability to pay interest or principal on the advance. The Group refers to these kinds of advances as ‘terminated
agreement’. In addition to the qualitative factors, the advances have to be at least 30 days past due to fall into
termination category.

When advances are identified as credit impaired, interest income is calculated at amortised cost on the net
carrying value of the loan (carrying value netof the impairment provision) in line with the requirements of IFRS 9.

Improvement (movement back to a lower stage):

The advances in Stage 2 and 3 are assumed to be cured when the payments are up to date. These accounts are
no longer included as ‘one day one penny overdue’ when the data is refreshed at month end.

Write off

The Group writes off advances when they are 180 days past due.

Calculation of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

At 31 December 2020, 99.8% of the outstanding advances had a remaining life of 12 months or less. As a result
of this the 12 months and lifetime ECL calculations are broadly the same. The ECL computation is based on
historical loss rates, where each division’s loans are analysed independently. The Group considers this to be the
Probability of Default.

The Probability of Default is applied to balances in each Stage to derive the ECL.

The forward-looking aspect of IFRS 9 requiresjudgement regarding the impact of changes in the macro economy
on the loans written by the business. In doing this we have considered amongst other things the impact of
COVID-19 and the associated support measures implemented. Further details of the significant accounting
judgements and estimates are included in note 3.

Due to the short-term nature of the products offered by the Group, there is a weak correlation between the
performance of the portfolio and macroeconomic lead indicators. As a result, the Group does not use multiple
economic scenarios in assessing the Probability of Default at each impairment stage and expects the impact of
this to be immaterial on the overall impairment calculation.
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U) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabi’ities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated statement of financial

position when there is a legaLy enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intertion to

settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle a liabi ity sirnuitaneously.

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairmertwhen there are ind;cations that the ca’rying value ‘nay not be

recoverable, If an asset’s ca’rying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount it is written

down immediately. The recoverable amount is the h’gher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value

in use. For the purposes of assessing mpairme”it, assets are grouped at the lowest levels ‘o which there are

separatey identifiable cash ows (cash generating units). Nan-f .nancial assets that have suffered impairment

are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date except for goodwill.

(I) Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any

impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the

items. Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with that item will flow to the

Group. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement in the year

in which they are incurred,

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statei-nent on a straight-line basis to allocate the costs less

residual value over the estimated useful life of an asset. Depreciation commences on the date that the asset is

brought into use. Work in Progress assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use and transferred to

the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment.

The estiniated useful lives for property, plant and equipment are:

Equipment 3 tolD years

Leasehold improvements 10 to 20 years

The resisual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and osses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included

in administratve expenses in the cor.solidated income statement.

Leased assets

Leases, in which substantat!y all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are classified as

operating leases. Payments made unde operating leases Inet of any incentives received from the lessorl are

charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and

any impairment losses, Amortisation is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line

basis over their estimated useful lives,
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(n) Internally generated intangible assets

Expenditure incurred on the development of software is capitalised only if the following criteria are met:

• Technical feasibihty has been demonstrated;

• The intention to complete the development project is demonstrable (e.g. allocated budgets and

resources, Board of Directors approval);

• Management is satisfied with the ability to use or sell the results of the project;

• It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits (e.g. existence of the market

for the results of the project);

• Adequate technical, financial or other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

software are available;

• The development cost of the asset can be measured rehably; and

• It is not a research cost

Only the costs that are directly attributable to the generating the intangible asset are capitalised.

The followng costs are not capital’sed: Operational, General and Administration overheads, annua software

licences, training, legal and professional fees related to disputes with suppliers.

Folowing the initial recognition of an internally generated intangibie asset, the cost is amortised over the

estimated useful life of the assets created. Amortisation commences on the date that the asset is brought into

use. As assets categorised as ‘Assets under Construction’ or ‘Work in Progress’ are brought into use, the assets

are transferred to the appropriate classification w.thin intangible assets. The est:mated useful lives for such

assets are:

Capitalsed development costs/software 3 to 5 years

(o) Relationships, Trade Marks and Goodwill

The Trade Name was valued employing a relief from royalty methodology to estaolish the fairvalue of the asset,

using an estimated useful economic life at 15 years and a discount rate of 12%.

The Customer Relationsiips were vaued employing the multi period excess earnings method to establish the

fair value of the assets, usngan estimated useful economic life at 15 to 20 years and a discount rate of 12%.

Customer Relationships andTrade Name are amortised overtheirus&ul life. Theyarealso tested forimpairment

at least annually.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s

interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liahilities of the entity recognised

at the date of acquisition

In these Financial Statements Goodwill relates to the acquisition of the Mizzen Mezzco Group in February 2015,

which includes the cashgenerating unit, Premium Credit limited.

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses.

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but is tested at least annually for impairment.
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(p) Employee benefits

Oo.igatons for contribjtions to defined contribut on pension pians are recognised as an expense in the income

staterrent as incurred,

(q) Business combinations involving entities under common control

A business Combination invo’vng entities under common control is a business combinaton in which all the

combining entities are ultimately ccntrolied by the same party both before and after te business combination,

and that control is not transitory.

(r) Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it

is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can

be reliably estimated. -

Provisionc are measured at the present value of the expected expenditure required to settle the obligation. A

contingent liability is a possible obligation that is dependent on the outcome of uncertain future events not

wholly within the control of the Group, or a present obligation where an outflow of resources is not a likely

outcome, or the amount cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed unless the

possibility of an outflow of resources is remote.

(s) Share capital

Ordinary shares and preference shares are classified as equity.

(t) Dividends

Dividends paid are reported in equity in the year they are approved by the Group’s Board.

to) Segmental reporting

The company coerates in one class of business, namely the financing of .nsurance premiums and instalment

services in the United Kingdom and l’eland. Accordingly, a segmerta analysis of the companys business is not

p’ovded.
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(v) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group eases buildings and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6 months to 7

years. Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in

the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for

leases of propertyfor which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components

and instead accounts for these as a single lease component. Lease ternis are negotiated on an individual basis

and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants

other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used

as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include

the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate

as at the commencement date

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that

option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement

of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot

be eadily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing

rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain

an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security

and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

• where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;

• uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by

the Group, which does not have recent third-party financing; and

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss

over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the

liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs; and

• restoration costs.

To optimise lease costs during the contract period, the Group sometimes provides residual value guarantees in

relation to vehicle leases.
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(w) Segmental reporting

The company operates in one class of business, namely the financing of insurance premiums and instalment

services, and in one geographical area, Europe. Accordingly, a segmental analysis of the company’s business is

not provided.

(x) Future accounting pronouncements

A number of new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been issued bythe IASB,

which are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company. These are set out below:

• Insurance contracts — Amendments to IFRS 17 (effective for periods beginning 1 January 2023 or when

applying IFRS 15). No impact expected.

• Definition Of materiality — Amendment to lAS 1 & lASS (effective for periods beginning on or after 1

January 2020). No expected impact.

• Definition of a business — Amendment to IFRS 3 (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020). No expected impact.

• CDVID-19 related rent concessions — Amendment to IFRS 16 (effective for periods beginning on or after

1 June 2020). No impact expected.

• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current — Amendment to lAS 1 (effective for periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2022). Low expected impact.

• Interest rate benchmark (IBOR) reform — Amendments to IFRS 9, lAS 39, IFRS 7, FRS 4 and IFRS 16 that

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021)

COVID-19 related rent concessions — Amendment to IFRS 16 (effective for periods beginning on or after

1 June 2020). No impact expected.

The IASB has issued amendments to IFRS 9, lAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 that address issues arising during

the reform of benchmark interest rates including the replacement of one benchmark rate with an alternative

one. The amendments are effective from 1 January 2021. The guidance outlines on how to apply the Phase 2

amendments to various contracts and hedge accounting relationships, including the interaction with the Phase

1 reliefs for hedge accounting.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, judgements and estimates that

underlie the preparation of its financial statements. The Group’s principal accounting policies are set out in this

document. United Kingdom company law and IFRS require the Directors, in preparing the Group’s financial

statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgments and estimates

that are reasonable and prudent. Where accounting standards are not specific, and management have to choose

a policy, lAS S ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ requires them to adopt policies

that will result in relevant and reliable information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing

with similar and related issues and the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial

Statements. The judgments and estimates involved in the Group’s accounting policies that are considered to be

the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of estimates,

assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its reported results.

PAGE 83



Mizzen Mezaco Limited Company Number: 05179245
Annual Report and Financial Stalements 2020

Critical accounting estimates

(a) Expected credit losses on financial assets

The measurement of Expected Credit Losses (‘ECL’) under IERS 9 requires a number of significant estimates. ECL

calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying estimates regarding the choice of

variable inputs and their interdependencies. Specifically, estimation uncertainties relate to the assessment of

whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, incorporation of

forwardlooking information in the measurement of ECL and key estimates for the recoverable cash flows. These

estimates are driven by a number of factors that are subject to change which may result in different levels of

ECL allowances.

The economic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and the support measures introduced by governmental
organisations, has resulted in a change from historic norms, in the repayment and termination profiles of the
loans written by the business. To establish an appropriate impairment provision following these changes an
overlay has been applied to the Company’s standard ECL modelling.

The modelling of this overlay includes assumptions of the drivers of the eventual loss which includestermination,

collection and write-off rates, which have been impacted during 2020 due tothe volatility arising from the Covid

19 pandemic. Estimating the impact of the changes in these drivers on the ECL, where there is no observable

historical trend data, results in there being a significant uncertainty in the estimation of the drivers. Therefore,

modelled assumptions and linkages between credit losses may underestimate or overestimate ECL in these

conditions. A change of 50% in the adjustment applied by the overlay model would result in a £1.Gm change in

the impairment provision in 2020(2019: nil).

The calculation of ECL and the associated areas estimated are detailed in Note 2(j).

(b) Effective interest rate

In calculating the effective interest rate of a financial instru nient, the Group takes into account all amounts that

are integral to the yield. In the case of loans to customeis future cash flows and the expected average life of

customer debt balances are estimated. A change in the estimate of any of the key variables in this calculation

has the potential to significantly impact income recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(c) Impairment of assets

IFRS requires management to undertake an annual test for impairment for assets with finite lives, to test for

impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable.

Impairment testing is an area involving management estimates, requiring assessment as to whether the carrying

value of assets can be supported by the fair value less costs to sell, or net present value of future cash flows

derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate. In

calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain estimates have been made in respect of highly

uncertain matters, including management’s expectations of growth and discount rates. Changing the estimates
selected by management could significantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and hence results. The

Group’s review includes the key assumptions related to sensitivity in the cash flow projections.
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(d) Recoverability of Intercompany debtor

Intercompany balances are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount may not be recoverable. The company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure

expected credit losses which uses a 12-month expected loss allowance for amounts due from the other group

companies. As intercompany balances are repayable on demand in nature, management considers the liquidity

of assets held when assessing the recoverability of the intercompany debtors. When the counterparty

doesn’t have highly liquid assets, management considers the settlement of the loan by selling its investments

held in subsidiaries as their recovery strategies. Therefore, the most significant estimates are the assessment of

impairment of the underlying trading company(i.e. Premium Credit Limited); hence the financial results and

expected future cash flows of Premium Credit Limited are used as part of this assessment.

(e) Other provisions

The nature and complexity of the Group’s contractual arrangements can often mean uncertain positions arise

as a result of its normal trading activities. A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated, If the effect is material, provisions
are determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, future cash flows at a pre-tax risk-free

rate. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s

liability. These estimates are reviewed each year and updated as necessary.

Dilapidations

The Directors recognise that there are a range of possible outcomes which could be materially different from
management’s best estimate. The company is responsible for the making good of dilapidations to the building
it leased at 60 East Street in Epsom to the end of March 2019. To establish the cost of this obligation the Group
employed a firm of surveyors who have advised that the likely cost of the corrective works will be in the order
of500k. In February 2021 the Group received a claim from the landlords of the property in relation to these
costs for £2.7m. These Financial Statements include a provision for the property obligation, which the
management believes is the best estimate of the anticipated economic outflow based on professional advice.
The Directors recognise that there are a range of possible outcomes which could be materially different from
management’s best estimate.

Critical Accountingiudgements

(f) Accrued expenses

On completion of the refinancing of the Senior notes at the start of 2020, the Directors took a decision to release

a provision totalling £2.0 million in respect of legal and professional fees which had previously been provided

for. The Directors’ best estimate at the balance sheet date is that no economic outflow will result from this

matter, but it remains subject to some judgement.

(g) Development costs

The Group has capitalised internally generated intangible assets as required in accordance with lAS 38.
Management has applied judgement in determining that software development activities in the course of

construction will result in a deployable system. The recoverable amount of the assets has been determined
based on value in use calculations which require the use ofjudgements.
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(ii) Going Concern

Accounting standards require the-Directors to assess the Group’s ability to Continue to adopt the going Concern

basis of accounting. In performing this assessment, the directors consider all available information about the

future, the possible outcomes of events and changes in conditions and the realistically possible responses to

such events and conditions that would be available to them.

In order to assess the appropriateness of the going concern basis the Directors considered the Company and

Group’s financial position, the cash flow requirements laid out in its forecasts for a period of 12 months from

the date of approval of these financial statements, its access to funding, the assumptions underlying the

forecasts and the potential risks and uncertainty affecting them. This included taking into account the risks

associated with the withdrawal of the United Kingdom (UK) from the European Union (Eu), and the subsequent

trade and cooperation agreement between the UK and the Eu, as well as those associated with the ongoing

CDVID-19 pandemic. The Company and Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible

changes in trading performance, including a severe but plausible downside scenario, show that the Company

and Group will be able to operate within the level of its current working capital facilities.

Although the Group is in a negative equity position, the Directors have received confirmation of support for the

company for at least 12 months from the signing of the financial statements. The Directors have reviewed the

forecasts of the Group and of the wider group taking into consideration longer-term commitments and the

timings of future dividend payments and repayments of interest on external debt. Having reviewed these

forecasts, and taken into account the forecast covenant compliance position of the wider Pomegranate Topco

Limited group (pursuant to dependent loans across the Group), the Directors have made an assessment of the

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and are satisfied that it has sufficient resources to continue in

business for the foreseeable future, and for a period of at least 12 months from the signing of the financial

statements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company

and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared

on the going concern basis.

4. Segmental reporting

The group operates in one class of business, namely the financing of insurance premiums and instalment services

in the United Kingdom & Ireland. Accordingly, a segmental analysis of the group’s business is not provided.
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5. Net interest income

2020 2019

-

- £‘OOO £‘OOO

Interest receivable on:

Interest income on loans to customers -

Earned service fee income 117,672 118,285

Cost of sales: incentives

____________________________________

(4,563) (3,844)

Interest income

_____________________________________

113,109 114,441

Interest payable on:

Securitisation notes (15,423) (20,366)

Interest expense

_______

(15,423) (20,366)

Net interest income 97,686 94,075

Interest payable on amounts owed to related party is LIBOR/SONIA linked interest payable to PCL Asset Trustee
Limited, the special purpose securitisation vehicle,

6. Fee income

2020 2019
-— taco E’DOO

Servicing and administration fees 16,902 17,764

Fee income 16,902 17,764

The costs associated with Servicing and administration fees income are primarily included in administrative

expenses. See NoteS for an analysis of the Group’s administrative expenses.

7. Commission expense

2020 2019

£000 £000

Commission expense 3,989 3,723

Commission expense 3,989 3,723

Commission expense primarily relates to costs payable to our partners.
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8. Administrative expenses

Notes 2020 2019

£‘OOO £‘DOO

Staff costs:

Wages and salaries 22,366 23,799

Social security costs 3,227 3,358

Other pension Costs

- -

1,448 1,473

Total staff costs ‘ 27,041 28,630

Non-staff costs:

Other administration costs 17,615 23,573

IT related expenditure 3,714 7,878

Depreciation and amortisation 12, 13, 14 6,955 7,934

Amounts written off on loans to customers 6,435 5,898

Operating lease costs 146 172

Foreign currency (gain)/loss (1,497) 2,846

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 99 —

Total non-staff costs

— - -

33,467 48,301

Administrative expenses 60,508 76,931

Other administration costs includes a release of a provision totalling £2.0 million in respect of legal and

professional fees for the refinancing of the Senior notes at the start of 2020, which in the opinion of the

Directors, is no longer required.

Operating profit is stated after charging:

Notes 2020 2019
E’OOO £‘ODD

Operating lease rentals 9 102

Depreciation charge on property, plant and equipment 14,15
1,874 2,099

and right-of-use assets

Amortisation charge on intangible assets 12 5,081 5,834

Impairment charge on intangible assets 12 449 -

Loss on disposal of intangible assets 12 99 -

Impairment of loans to customers 7,651 4,795

IT related expenditure 3,714 7,879
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Impairments of loans to customers

2020 2019
£‘OOO £000

Movement in expected credit losses/impairment allowance 1,216 (1,103)

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible, net of recoveries 6,435 5,898

Impairment of loans to customers 7,651 4,795

Auditors’ remuneration

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and their associates for the audit of the parent company, consolidated

financial statements, and the Groups subsidiaries:

Audit services

2020 2019
£‘OOO £‘OOO

Audit services 396 309

Audit related services - 77

Other assurance services 1 196

Total auditors’ remuneration -
- 397 582

The above fees for audit services are borne by Premium Credit and include all entities within the Pomegranate
Topco group.

Employees

The average monthly number of employees (including executive Directors) employed by the Company during

the year was 399 (2019: 392) at year end it was 378 (2019:407). All employees are engaged in the financing of

insurance premiums and instalment services and are split into the following functions:

2020 2019
Number Number

Operations 161 155

General and administration 173 173

Sales and marketing
— 65 54

Total number of ernpIoees 399 392

All employees have contracts of employment with Premium Credit, a Group subsidiary.

The Company operates a define contribution pension scheme on behalf of its qualifying employees. There were
no outstanding or prepaid pension contributions at the balance sheet date.
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9. Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of the Directors paid by the Group during the year was as follows:

2020 2019
tODD £000

Aggregate en,oiumcnts — —-

_________

1,952 2,407

Total emoluments 1,952 2,407

Directors’ emoluments include amounts paid or accrued n respect of Premium Credit and Mizzen Mezzco

Limited Directors. The costs of Directors’ emoluments are borne by Premium Credit.

No retirement benefits accruing to Directors (2019: £nfl) under the Group’s defined contribution pension

scheme.

Thetotal emolumentsof the highest paid Director were £0.7 million (2019: £0.7 million) which includes payment

in lieu of noticefnii (2019: £0.5 mill:on). No contributions were made in respect of money purchase schemesto

the highest paid Director (2019: Enil).

The remuneration of key management personnel is shown in Note 31W).

10. Finance expense

2020 2019
£‘OOO £000

Interest payable on:

lease obligations 281 321

Senior loan notes -
.

12,647

-

14654

Finance expense _%928 14,975
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11. Income tax expense

2020 2019
£‘OOO £000

Current tax expense — current year 1,812 1,086

Adjustment to prioryears —current tax

—

(1,782) (363)

Total current tax 30 723

Deferred tax credit — current year 250 (130)

Adjustment to prior years— deferred tax (157) 71

Total deferred tax - - - 93 (59)

Foreign tax

- -

708 322

Total foreign tax 708 322

Total tax expense 831 986

The headline rate of UK corporation tax will remain at 19% from 1 April 2020 following the enactment of Finance

Act 2020 on 22 july 2020. Given that this rate was enacted as at the balance sheet date, any deferred tax

balances included within the accounts have been calculated with reference to the rate of 19%, as required under

Financial Reporting Standard 101- The company’s profits for this accounting period are taxed at the applicable

rate of 19% (2019: 19%). As part of the UK budget on 3 March 2021, it was announced that the corporation tax

rate is set to increase to 25% by April 2023. Had this rate been enacted at the balance sheet date, the deferred

tax asset recognised would have been increased by £103k.

Factors affecting the total tax charge for the year are explained below:

2020 2019
£‘OOO £‘OOO

Profit before taxation on ordinary activities 28,984 17,322

Profit before taxation on ordinary activities multiplied by the

UK tax rate of 19% (2019: 19.00%) 5,507 3,291

Factors affecting expense for the year:

Tax exempt income (1) (8)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 57 196

Overseas tax 708 322

Double tax relief (708) (322)

Adjustment to prior years — current tax (1,782) (363)

Adjustment to prior years — deferred tax (157) 71

Effects of group relief for nil consideration (2,717) (2,219)

Effects of rate change (76) 19

Other tax adjustments - (1)

Total tax expense

__________________

831 986
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12. Intangible assets

Assets under

construction Software Total

CODa £000 £‘OOO

Cost

At 1 January 2020 2,567 26,016 28,583

Additions 1,865 88 1,953

Disposals (89) (5629) (5,718)

Impairments (538) (538)

Transfers (4,108) 4,108 -

At 31 December 2020 235 24,045 24,280

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2020 - 17,616 17,616

Charge in the year - 5,081 5,081

Disposals - (5,618) (5,618)

Impairment - (90) (90)

At 31 December 2020 - 16,989 16,989

Net book value at 31 December 2020 235

- — -

7,056 1,291

Assets under

construction Software Total

£‘ODO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Cost

At 1 January 2019 6,086 18,344 24,430

Additions 3653 500 4,153

Transfers (7172) 7,172 -

Disposals - -

At 31 December 2019 2,567 25,016 28,583

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2019 - 11,781 11,781

Charge for the year
- 5,835 5,835

Disposals - -

At 31 December 2019

-

17,616 17,616

Net book value at 31 December 2019

-

2,567 8,400 10,967

Assets under construction relate to capitalised development costs.

Intangible assets amortisation is recorded in the administrative expenses in the income statement.

During the year, assets with a carrying value of £0.5 million was impaired upon capitalisation as the value in use

was identified and deemed to be lower than the development costs.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold

improvements Equipment Total

£‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Cost

At 1 January 2020 2,872 5,543 8,415

Additions
- 568 568

Disposals - (64) (64)
Exchange adjustmenis - (2) (2)

At 31 December 2020 2,872 6,045 8,917

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2020 853 4,670 5,523

Chargefortbeyear 291 562 853

Disposals
- (64) (64)

Exchange adjustments (3) (3)

At 31 December 2020 1,144 - - 5,165 6,309

Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 1,728 880 2,608

Leasehold
improvements Equipment Total

£000 £‘OOO £000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 2,872 5,327 8,199

Additions
- 216 216

Disposals -

At 31 December 2019 2,872 5,543 8,415

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2019 566 3,867 4,433

Charge for the year 287 803 1,090

Disposals - - -

At 31 December 2019 853 4,670 5,523

Net carrying value at 31 December 2019 2,019 873 2,892

See note 21 for contractual commitments on capital expenditure.
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14. Right-of-use-assets

Buildings Vehicles Total

-

£‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Net carrying value at 31 DeCember 2019 5,612 320 5,932

Cost

At 1 January 2020 6,433 508 6,941
Additions - 26 26
Disposals - - (75) (75)

At 31 December 2020 6,433 459 5,892

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2020 821 188 1,009

Charge In the year 821 199 1,020
Disposals - (75) (75)

At 31 December2020

-

1,642 312 1,954

Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 4,791 147 4,938

15. Loans to customers

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OOO £000

Gross loans to Customers 1,438,852 1,450,769

Less: allowance for ECL/impairment losses (6,545) (5,320)

Net loans and advances to customers 1,432,307

— —

1,445,449

Split as:

Current 1,429,839 1,441,869

Non-current 2,468 3,580

At 31 Dece,-nber 2020, £10419 million (2C19: £1,049.5 million) of the loans to customers had its beneficial

interest assigned to SPy entities as a coHateral for securitisation transactions.
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An analysis of movements in the allowance for impairment losses under IERS 9 Financial Instruments is as

follows:

2020 2019
€‘OOO E’DDO

1 January 5,320 6,423

(Credit)/Charge for impairment losses 1,216 (1,103)
Exchangeadjustments

— -

- 9 —

At 31 December — 6,545 5,320

The table below shows stage allocation of Group’s loans, allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) together

with ECL coverage ratio:

At 31 December 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans to customers (€000) 1,433,313 3,233 2,306 1,438,852

Allowance for ECL (€‘OOO) 3,841 398 2,306 6,545

Coverage ratio (%) -

- 0.3% - - 12.3% — - 100% - - — 0.5%

At 1 January 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loans to customers (€000) 1,437102 9104 — —- 4,563 1,450,769

Allowance for ECL (€000) 3,095 633 1,592 5,320

Coverage ratio (%) 0.2% 7.0% 34.9% 0.4%
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16. Prepayments and other receivables

Group Group Company Company
3lDec 3lOec 3lOec 3lDec

2020 2019 2020 2019
tOGa £000 t000 £000

Prepayments 9,016 12260 - 28

Amounts awed by Group undertakings 785 599 16,482 15611

Prepayment and other receivables 9,801 12,859 16,482 15,639

Split as:

Current 9,512 11,565 - 28

Non-current 289 1,294 15,482 25,611

Prepayments and other receivables of £9.8 million (2019: £12.9 mHlion) include £0.7 million (2019: £1.4 million)

of fees relating tothe ‘vlasterTrust which are amortised over5 yearsand £95 rrii?lion (2019: £09 million) of fees

relating to undrawn facilities.

The Group has amounts owed by Group undertakings of £0.8 million (2019: £0.6 million) which is attributable

to expenses recharged to Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited, Pomegranate Holdings Limited and Pomegranate

Topco Limited which are unsecured and repayable on de’iand.

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are unsecured and consists ofa loan of £10.7 million (2019: £10.7 milion)

and is receivable from Mizzen Midco in October 2022or on demand within three business days of written notice

from the lender and ea’ns interest at a rate of 8.135% per ar’rum, interest accrued amounted to £58 million

(2019 £4.9 million).
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17. Deterred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and iabiiities are attributable to the fal’owing:

Assets Liabilities Net
2020 2020 2020

FOOD £‘OOO Coca

Deferred tax asset as at I January 2020

—

1,063 (580) 483

Deferred tax charge/(credit) for the year attributable to:

Deferred tax charge/(credit) in respect of current year
— (326) - (326)

income statement

Ad,jstments in respect of prior year - 157 151

Erfect of rate change — ncome statement - 75 75

Deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2020 — - - 737 (348)

________

389

Assets Liabilities Net
2019 2019 zoi

£‘OOO FOOD £‘ODO

Deterred tax asset as at 1 January 2019 985 (561) 424

Deferred tax credit/(charge) for the year attributable
to:

Deferred tax credit in respect of current year 149 - 149

Adjustments in respect of prior year (71) - (71)

Effect of rate change - (19) (19)

Deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2019 1,063 (580)

-

483

The deferred tax asset in the balance sheet is as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
FOOD £000

Deferred tax assets due within 12 months 18 14

Deferred tax iabLties due wthin 12 months (133) (199)

Carrying amount at year end (115) (185)

Deferred tax assets due in more thar 12 months 525 699

Deferred tax liabi it:es due n more than 12 months (21) (31)

Carrying amount at year end - - 504 668

Deferred tax asset as at 31 December

_____________________________--

- - 389 — 483
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The deferred tax asset in the balance sheet consists of:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

£‘OOO £000

Accelerated capital allowances 368 373

s1308 R&D intangible fixed asset 21 110

Deferred taic asset as at 31 December 389 483

At the end of the year the Group had tax losses available to carry forward for offset against future profits of

£1.9 million 2019: £1.9 million). As there is uncertainty about whether relevant future taxable profits will exist

within the indIvidual entities going forward against which these losses can offset the deferred tax asset has not

been recognised.

is. cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

£‘OOO £000

Bank balances 124,303 85,281

Cash and cash equivalents 124,303 85,281

The currency profie of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OOO £‘OOC

GBP 110,057 78,285

USD 2,706 1,255

EUR

— --

11,540 5,741

- Cash and cash equivalents - 124,303 85,281

Cash and cash equivalents include encumbered cash balances held by SPV entities (see Note 28).

The external credit ratings of the Group’s banking counterparties are:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
P000 P000

AA-

-

124,303 85,281

Cash and cash equivalents - 124,303 85,281
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19. Lease obligations

a) Liabilities

The Balance Sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OOO £000

Buildings 5,304 5764

Vehicles 128 295

Lease obligations 5,432 6059

b) Amounts recognised in the income statement

The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019

£‘OOO £000

Interest expense (included in Finance expense) - 281 — 320

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in Administrative
21 28

expenses)
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20. Borrowings

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OoO f’DOO

Non-current

Securitisation notes 977,658 986,108

Senior secured loan notes 185,719 187423

Borrowings

______ _______

. 1,163,377 1,173,531

Securitisation notes

Funding is provided by a £1487.5 million (2019: £1,391.5 million) Securitisation Programme, which includes a

VFN Facility extended in 2019 and two public term notes launched in 2017 and 2020. As at 31 December 2020,

£980.2 million was drawn down on the Securitisation Programme (2019: £988.2 million) less loan fees

of £2.6 million (2019: £2.1 million).

Senior secured loan notes Issue Maturity 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Date date £‘OOO £000

Senior Term Loan 16 ian 2020 15 ian 2026 185,719 -

Fixed rate corporate bond 8 May 2014 1 May 2021 . 187,423

Borrowings in the current year includes a £190 million Senior Term Loan facility due 2025 with a large private

investment manager at a fixed interest rate of 6.5% plus a variable LIBOR margin, where interest is paid

biannually. The Senior Term Loan was drawn on 16 January 2020, with its net proceeds applied towards the

redemption of the whole amount of Mizzen Bondco Limited’s previous borrowings. Unamoitised costs were

subsequently written off to the income statement (Level 3 inputs).

Prior year Borrowings were repaid in January 2021 and consisted of a 7% fixed rate bond listed on the Irish Stock

Exchange with a maturity date of 1 May 2021 and secured by a fixed charge over certain assets of the Mizzen

Mezzco Limited Group. The fair value of the bond at reporting date is £nil (2019 £189.6 million) based on an

open market value (Leve’ 2 inputs).
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21. Trade and other payables

Group Group Company Company
31 Dec2020 31 Dec2019 31 Dec2020 310ec2019

E’OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Trade payables 444,108 438,658 - -

Accrued expenses 14,624 21781 0 41

Social security and other taxes 1,147 1,000 - -

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 990 989 755 712

Other creditors 635 516 -

Trade and other payables

_____________

461,504 462,944 755 753

Split as:

Current 461,504 462,944 755 753

Non-current . - -

The Group has amounts owed to Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited of £1.0 million (2019: £1.0 million)

attributable to recharged expenses. The Company also has amounts owed to Premium Credit of £0.7 million

(2019: £0.7 million) attributable to recharged expenses. These balances are interest free and

repayable/receivable on demand.

Intercompany balances with special purpose vehicles arise from securitisation transactions, including the issue

of Sterling-denominated VFN notes and public asset-backed securities. VFN notes are issued or redeemed in

proportion to the increase or decrease in the portfolio of loans to customers.

22. Called up share capital

Group Group Company Company
31Dec2020 310ec2019 31Dec2020 31Dec2019

£‘OOO £‘OOO £000 £000
32,921,166 Ordinary shares of £1 32,921 32,921 32,921 32,921

11,581,089 Preference shares of £1 11,581 11,581 11,581 11,581

Called up share capital

____________

44,502 44,502 44,502 44,502

23. Other reserves

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
£‘OOO £000

Opening foreign currency translation reserve 811 2,514

Foreign currency translation 1,831 (1,703)

Other reserves 2,642 811

Other reserves comprise gains on the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.
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24. Investments

Investments — Company

Cost and carrying value

At lianuary

31 Dec 2020

€‘OOO

31 Dec 2019
f’OOO

The finanual year end of all the subs d,ares is 31 December. All UK incorporated companies are registered at

Ermyn House, Ermyn Way, Leatnerhead, Surrey, KT22 BUX. Mizzen Bondco Limted is registered at P0 Box 309,

Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Directors are of the opitoru that the carryingvalue of the nvestment is suoported bythe underlying assets.

The Group enterec into securitisation transactions whereby it trans’ers asse3 recognised on its balance sheet

to Special Purpose Vehicles (SPV5) but retains substantiahy all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets

and hence they are not derecognised. These securitisation transactions are to fund certain advances to

customers. Although none of the equity of the SPy is owned by the Group, the nature of this entity means that

the Group has the rights to all benefits from its activit:es and as such it is effectvely controlled by the Group. AH

SPy entities are incorporated in England and Wales.

The assets of Mizzen Midco Limted and IVizzen Bondco Limited are subjectto fixed charges associated with the

debi securities issued by Mizzen Bondco Limited. There were no other charges on assets of Group subsidiaries.

25. Dividends

On Ordinary shares

Dividend paid End per £1 share: (2019: Enil per £1 share)

Dividends paid

2020 2019

-

. £‘OOO

_______

£000

No dividend has been proposed.

Mizzen Mezzco Limited
Annual Report and Financial Stalenients 2020

company Number: 08119245

At 31 December 44,502 44,502

44,502 44,502

Company Parent entity Country of Nature of - - Group Capital

incorporation business interest

Mizzen Midco Limited Mizzen Mezzco Limited UK
Holding

100% £2,205,000
company

Mizzen Bondco Limited Mizzen Midco Limited
Cayman Bond

100% £2
Islands financing

Mizzen Mezzco 2
Mizzen Bondco Limited UK

Holding
100% £32,921,166

L,m’ted company

Mizzen Bidco Limited
Miner, Mezzco 2

UK
Holding

100% £32,921,166
Limited company

—.

Vendcrown ..irnited Mizzen Bidco Limfted UK
Holding

100% £16,258
company

Premium Credit
Vendcrown Limited UK

Finance
100% £10,000

tjm•ted

— . —._services

Direct Debit
. Premium Credit

Management Services
. UK Dormant 103% £2

. .

Limited
Lim ted
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26. cash generated from operations

2020 2Q19
£‘OOO £000

Profit before taxation 28,984 17,322

Non-cash items included in profit before taxation

Loan impairment charges 7,551 4,795

Depreciaton and amortisation 6,955 7,934

:mpairment of fixed assets 449

Loss on d’sposal of intangible assets -

Finance costs—net 35,314 35,332

Non-cash items included in profit before taxation 50,468 48,061

changes in operating assets and liabilities

Net movement in loans to customers 6,887 (50,807)

Net movement in trade and other payables 5,450 31,508
Net movement in prepayments and other receivables 3,244 652
Net movement in accruals and deferred income (6,889) - - -

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

___________________

- 8,692

-

(18,647)

cash generated from operations 88,144 46,736

27. Interests in Special Purpose Vehicle entities

The business is funded by a Master Trust securitisation, which was put in place in December 2016 and became

effective in February 2017, which involves five special purpose vehicle entities (SPV5’). The SPVs issued three

series of debt instruments external to the Group, backed by the cash flows of the portfolio of receivables sold

to the Master Trust. As at 31 December 2019, the Master Trust has issued two series of publicly listed term debt
sod to capita market investors, a senio, variable funding note soid to a syndicate ot four major banks (VN’)

and a mezzan-ne term rote sold to one of these banks. These SPVs are consoidated as they were specifically set

up for the purposes of the Group: and the Group has exposure to substantia ly al the risks and rewards of the

portfol.o of iece:vabes.

The Board has deternined that the SPVs are controled by the Group as a result of the SPVs berg the sole

acquirer of oebt obligations originated by the Group.
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28. Financial risk management

This note explains the Group’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the Group’s future

financial performance. Through its normal operations, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most

significant of which are credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. Current year profit and loss information has

been included where relevant to add further context.

Risk Exposure arising on Measurement Management

Credit risk Loans to customers, Cash Staging under IFRS 9 Credit checks

and cash equivalents Credit ratings Credit Limits
Loan loss reviews

Market risk — interest I Long-term borrowing at Sensitivity analysis Contractual rate

rate variable rates -

-

ratchets - -

Liquidity risk Borrowings Rolling cash flow Availability of ineligible

-

forecasts asset funding facilities

Market risk — FX rate Financial assets and Cash flow forecast Concentration limits On

liabilities not Sensitivity analysis loans in Euro and US
denominated in pounds Dollars
sterling

— -

(a) credit risk

Credit risk arises from loan facilities in the UK and to a lesser extent in the Republic of Ireland. These lacPities

enable indivdua’s to spread the cost of services, primarily insurance premiums. Loan exposure is to individuals,

corporates and corporate intermediaries. The majority of lend.ng actvity is arranged by corporates and

corporate intermediaries in the insurance sector, bus the Group is also active in financing other instalment

services such as school and leisure fees,

Credit risk is the risk that a borrower fails to pay the interest or to repay the capital on a loan. All lending is

underwritten by the Group and the performance of all loans is monitored closely and regular management

‘eports are submitted to the Board, Executive Committee and the appropriate sub-Committees.

Management and monitoring of credit risk

Credit risk is no-nicored by the Executive Risk Committee, a sub-Committee of the Executive Committee. Credit

checks are conducted at inception ann on enewal of loan facilities. Individual risk limits are set based on

borrower affordability and in accordance with limits and parameters set by the Board.

credit quality

Loans to customers repesent 905% of total assets at 31 December 2020(2019: 92.4%).

The credit quality of loans to customers is rrieasured on the Staging allocation that the Group performs on its

loan book. The Group staging assessment of its loans portfolio is detailed in Note 15.
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Market risk — interest rate

Exposure to interest rate riskarisesfrom the Group fundir.g its activities through a Securitisation facilityon which

the rate of interest pad is variaoie. The Grouo has the ability through cortractual rate ratchets to reprice future

lending in the event of rate rises.

A 1% adverse movement in the interest rate on borrowing would have increased borrowing costs and reduced

Group’s profit before taxation by £9.8 million (2019: £9.9 million), however this would be largely offset by

increased revenue from repricing of future lending via contractual rate ratchets.

(b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability

of funding through adequate amounts of committed credit facilities to enable the Group to meet obligations

when due. At the end of the reporting year the Group held deposits at call of £124.3 million (2019:

£85.3 million). Due to the nature of the business, the cash position is monitored daily by the Group’s Treasury

function which maintains flexibility in funding through availability of committed credit lines.

The table below summarises the total assets that are capable of supporting future funding and collateral needs

end shows the extent to which these assets are currently pedged for this purpose.

Encumbered asset summary

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
— £‘COO £‘DOD

Encumbered cash and cash equivalents 32,136 30,743

Unencumbered cash and cash equivalents 92,167 54,538

Cash and cash equivalents 124,303 85,281

An asset is defined as encumbered if it has been pledged as collateral against an existing on or off-balance sheet

liability, and as a result is no longer available to the Group to secure funding, satisfy collateral needs or be sold

to reduce the funding requirement. An asset is therefore categorised as unencumbered if it has not been pledged

against an existing liability.

Encumbered assets represent cash held by SPy entities.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s cash position and liquidity buffer on the basis of expected

cash flows. This is carried out at entity level in the principal operating companies of the Group. The necessary

level of liquid assets is monitored with balance sheet liquidity ratios and debt financing plans to ensure debt

covenants are not breached. The composition of the Group’s funding base is monitored against defined

thresholds to further avoid funding source and maturity concentration risks. The Group prepares both short

term and long-term forecasts to assess iq-uidity reouirements coveringa ‘oiling twelve-month period and takes

into account factors such as payment cycles and cyclical trade patterns. These reports support daily liquidity

management and are rev:ewed monthy by the Asset and Liability (‘ALCO) a sub-Committee of the Executive

Committee.
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Financing arrangements

The Group had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting year:

31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2019
Variable rate

(‘000 £‘OoO

Expiring after more than one year (securitisation) 507,286 410298

lJndrawn borrowing facilities 507,286 410,298

The securitisation Variable Funding Note facility may be drawn down on demand on a weekly basis and is subject

to the continuance of satisfactory credit ratings of the securitisation facilities.

To enhance overall funding stability and diversity, the Group places emphasis on maximising and preserving its

securitisation funding sources. The Group monitors funding costs and levels, and significant trends and changes

are reported to its management team via the ALCO.

Maturity profile

A maturity analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows of the Group’s bank and other borrowIngs,

including derivatives is shown below. These difer from tie statement of financial position vaiues due to the

effects of discounting on certain statement of financial position items and due to the nclusion of contractual

future interest flows.

At 31 December 2020

Repayable on demand
<1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years >5 years Total

— £ 000
— (‘000 (‘000 (‘000 (‘000 (‘000

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 990 459,367 - - - 460,357

Securitisation loan - 283,500 596,714 - - 980,214

Securitisation Interest - 992 13,308 - - 14,300

Private Loan - - - - 190,030 190,000

PrivateLoanFees - - —- - - -- -63,014 63,014

Total financial liabilities 990 743,859 710,022 - 253,014 1,707,885

Financial assets

Loans to customers - 1,429,839 2,468 - - 1,432,307

Other receivables 785 - - - - 785

Cash and cash equIvalents 92,167 32,136 - - - 124,303

Totalfinancial assets ‘. 92,952 1,461,975 2,468 - - 1,557,395

Maturity gap 91,962 718,116 (707,554) - -
- (253,014) (150490)
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At 31 December 2019

Repayable on <1 year 1-2 2-5 years >5 Total
demand years years

£‘OOO £‘OOO £000 £‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Financial liabilities

Lease obligations - 947 862. 3,892 533 6233

Borrowings - - - 1240,865 1,240,865

Trade and other payables 989 439,174 - - - 440,163

Total financial liabilities 989 440,121 861 — 1,244,757 533 1,687,261

Financial assets

Loans to customers - 1,441,869 3,580 - - 1,445,449

Other receivables 599 - - - - 599

Cash and cash equiv&ents 54,538 — 30,743 - - - - 85,281

Total financial assets - 55,137_ 1,472,612
- 3,580 - - 1,531,329

Maturity gap

- - -

54,148 1,032,491 2,719 (1,244,757) (533) (155,932)

Market risk — FX rate

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk arises from Premium Credit’s operations in the Republic of

relar’.d and trade receivables and payables in foreign currencies.

The Groi.,p’s exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates is montored mvntli.y by the Asset and .iabiity

Committee and is governed by Board approved ‘oreign exchange rate risk management po1 cy, which forms part

of the Group’s financial risk management policies, Exposu’es are managed by the securitsation facilities’

concentration limits on trade receivables and reviews of payabes denomnated in foreign currencies.

As at 31 3ecember 2320, a 2.0% movement in the US dollar/GBP and EUR/GOP exchange rates would have had

a of £0.5 million (2019: £0.5 mill’on) in’pact or’ profits.
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29. Financial instruments

(a) Classification of financial instruments under IFRS9

The following tables analyse the financial assets and financiaF liabflities in accordance with the categories of

financial instruments under IFRS 9.

At 31 December 2020

FVTPL Amortised cost Total

£‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO

Liabilities

Debt securities - 1,163,377 1,163,377
Related partyloan - 990 990
Trade and other payaWes - 459,367 459,367

Total financial liabilities . 1,623,734 1,623,734

Assets

Loans to customers - 1,432,307 1,432,307

Other receivables - 785 785

Cash and cash equivalents
- 124,303 124,303

Total financial assets - - 1,557,395

-

1,557,395

At 31 December 2019 FVTPL Amortised cost Total
E’OOO FOOD £‘OOO

Liabilities

Borrowings 1,173,531 1,173,531

Trade and other payables - -

- 451,944 461,944

Total financial liabilities 1,635,475 1,635,475

Assets

Loans to customers - 1,445,449 1,445,449

Other receivables - 599 gg

Cash and cash equivalents
- 85,281 85,281

Total financial assets 1,531,329 1,531,329
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jb) Fair values

Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors Consider that the carrying vaue amounts of financial

assets and financial Ilablities recorded on the ba’ance sheet a’e approximately equal cc theirfairva!ues.

There are three levels to the hierarchy as follows:

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1. that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directy (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (se. derived from prices).

Level 3—Inputs for the asset or liability that are rot based on observable market data unobservable inputs).

Derivative financial instruments which are catego’ised as evel 2 are those wh:ch have future cash flows which

are on known dates and for which the cash flow amounts are known or calculable by reference to observable

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2020

£‘OOO £‘OOO £‘OOO £‘ODD

Liabilities

Borrowings - 977,658 185,719 1,163,377

Trade and other payables - 460,357 - -

-

460,357

Total financial liabilities - 1,623,734 1,623,734

Assets

Loans to customers - 1,432,301 - 1,432,307

Other receivables - 785 - 785

Total financial assets - 1,433,092 - 1,433,092

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2019

€000 €000 £‘OOO £‘OOO

Liabilities

Borrowings 183,294 985,108 - 1,159,402

Trade and other payab’es - - - -
- 463,932 463,932

Total financial liabilities 183,294 1,450,040 1,633,334

Assets

Loans to customers - 1,445,449 - 1,445,449

Other recevables
- 599 - - 599

Total financial assets - 1,446,048 - 1,446,048

The vauation techniques and inputs used to derive fair values at the year-end are described beiow.

Fair vaue is the price that wou!d be rec&ved to sel an asset o’ patd to transfer a :iabil ty in an oroerly transaction

oetween market participants at the measurement date. Where an active market is considered to exist, fair

values are based on quoted prices. For instruments which do not have active markets, fair value is calculated

using present value models, which take individual cash flows together with assumptions based on market

conditions and credit spreads, and consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial

instruments.
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In each Case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark observable market

interest rates based on LIBOR rather than Overnight Index Swaps (015), as using OlS would have no significant

impact. This is kept under review.

30. Capital resources

it is the Group’s policy to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently

throughout its activities to optimise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship

between the capital base and the underlying risks of the business.

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are:

• To ensure that the Group has sufficient capital to meet its operational requirements and long-term

strategic objectives;

• To safeguard the Groups ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide

returns to shareholders and benefits for its stakeholders; and

• To provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurate with

the level of risk

The Group sets the amount of captal based on t,e Boards view of perceived credit risk, future cash needs and

the availability and cost of external financing. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments

to it in the light of changes ir, economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, having

parbcuar regard to the relative costs and availability of debt and equity finance at any given time. In order to

maintain or adust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of divdends paid to shareholders,

return cap’tal to shareholders, issue new shares, issue or redeem other capital instruments, such as corporate

bonds, or allow loans to customers to mature without subsequent advancement. The Group is not subject to

any externally imposed capital requirements.

N
31Dec2020 31Dec2019

ote
(‘000 LOGo

Debt
Securitisation notes 20 977,658 986,108

Senior loan notes 20 185,719 187,423

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 21 990 989

Less: unencumbered cash - - - - 28 (92,167) 54,538)

Net debt 1,072,200 1,119,982

Equity

Total eqLlty (47,546) (77,530)
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31. Related party transactions

During the year the Group had the fohowing transactions witn Group undertakings:

(a) Transactions involving Directors and other key connected persons

Thr the purposes of lAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, key management personnel are tnose persons hav:ng

authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activit[es of an entity; the key

management of the Group are tie members of the Group’s Board and Executive Committee.

The Group also paid finance commission to Ingenie Services Limited of £1.4 million (2019: £1.2 milion) at the

end of the year £03 million (2019: £0.6 mllonl was outstanding Ingenie Services Limited is r&ated through key

management personnel.

Premium Credit has a loan to a director of £40,000 (2019: f40,000), with interest payable at 2.5% per annum,

for the purpose of acquiring shares in Pomegranate Topco Limited and remains outstanding at year end.

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel

The amount of remuneration incurred by the Group in relation to key management is set out below in aggregate.

The remuneration of the Directors is set out in Note 9. With the exception of the Chief Executive and the Chief

Finance Officer, the Directors and key management are not the same body of persons. Further information In

respect of key management personnel at the date of signing the financial statements is included in the

Governance report.

2020 2019
£‘OOO £‘OOO

5hortterm employee benefits 3,829 4,671

Termination benefits 1,088 599

Total emoluments 4,917 5,270

The costs of senior management personnel are borne by Premium Credit.

Short term empioyee benef.ts comprise salary, bonus, pens:on contributions and benefits, earned in the year.

(c) Trading transactions

During the year, the Group paid to Cinver’ service fees of £0.4 million (2D19: E0.4 million) and at the end of the
year €a 1 milion (2019: £O.lm) was unpaid.

Amounts owed to and from Group undertakings are identified in Notes 16 and 21.

(d) Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

At 31 December 20120 the Group’s ultimate parent undertaking was Pomegranate Topco Limited which is

incorporated in ierseyand the Board co’tsidcrs the ultimate contro:ing party to be C:nven Partners LLP. Financa

statements for The rifth Cinven Fund can be cbtained from its Corporate Affairs officeat Cinven, Warwick Court,

Paternoster Square, London, England, EC4M 7A6.

Pomegranate Topco Limited Company is the largest and the smallest Company of undertakings for which

Company financial statements are drawn up and of which the company is a member.
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(e) Immediate parent undertaking

The Company’s immediate parent company is Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited which is incorporated in

England and Wales. Financial statements for Pomegranate Acquisitions Limited can be obtained from its

registered office at Errnyn House, Erinyn Way, Leatherhead, England, KT22 SUX.

32. Contingent liabilities and commitments

a) Capital commitments

At 31 December 2020, the Group had capital commitments related to intangible assets of £0.1 milion

(31 December 2019: £0.1 million). This is in respect of IT software development and IT hardware.

33. Post balance sheet events

In April 2021 the Group issued a new series of public asset backed securities to its Secritisation Programme for

£300.0 million with a reinvestment period end-date of October 2023.

There were no other post balance sheet events
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